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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements 

  
This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including documents incorporated herein by reference, contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the U.S. Private 

Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended (the “Exchange Act”). These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to: any projections of net sales, earnings, or outlook for fiscal year 2026, and other 
financial items; any statements of the strategies, plans and objectives of management for future operations; expectations in connection with the Company’s previously announced 
business optimization plan; any statements concerning proposed new products or developments; any statements regarding future economic conditions or performance; any statements 
of belief; and any statements of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. Forward-looking statements can be identified by their use of such words as “may,” “will,” “estimate,” 
“intend,” “continue,” “believe,” “expect,” or “anticipate” and similar references to future periods. 
  

Forward-looking statements are neither historical facts nor assurances of future performance. Instead, they are based only on our current beliefs, expectations and assumptions 
regarding the future of our business, future plans and strategies, projections, anticipated events and trends, the economy and other future conditions. Because forward-looking statements 
relate to the future, they are subject to inherent uncertainties, risks and changes in circumstances that are difficult to predict and many of which are outside of our control. Our actual 
results and financial condition may differ materially from those indicated in the forward-looking statements. Therefore, you should not rely on any of these forward-looking statements. 
Important factors that could cause our actual results and financial condition to differ materially from those indicated in the forward-looking statements include, among others, those that 
are discussed in “Business” (Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-K), “Risk Factors” (Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10-K), and throughout “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations” (Part II, Item 7 of this Form 10-K). Readers are cautioned that actual results could differ materially from the anticipated results or other expectations 
that are expressed in forward-looking statements within this report. The forward-looking statements included in this report speak only as of the date hereof, and we undertake no 
obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law. 
   

PART I 
  
Item 1. Business 
  
Company Background 

  
Dynatronics Corporation is a leading medical device company committed to providing high-quality products designed to accelerate optimal health. The Company designs, 

manufactures, and sells a broad range of products for clinical use in physical therapy, rehabilitation, orthopedics, pain management, and athletic training. Through its distribution 
channels, Dynatronics markets and sells to orthopedists, physical therapists, chiropractors, athletic trainers, sports medicine practitioners, clinics, and hospitals. The Company’s products 
are marketed under a portfolio of high-quality, well-known industry brands including Bird & Cronin, Solaris, Hausmann, PROTEAM, and Mammoth, among others. 
  

Unless the context otherwise requires, all references in this report to “registrant,” “we,” “us,” “our,” “Dynatronics,” or the “Company” refer to Dynatronics Corporation, a 
Utah corporation, and its wholly owned subsidiaries. In this report, unless otherwise expressly indicated, references to “dollars” and “$” are to United States dollars. 

  
Business Strategy  
  

Dynatronics is a leading manufacturer of restorative products known for trusted high-quality brands, on-time delivery, and superior customer care. We are committed to 
maintaining our current position through consistent operational excellence and a focus on sustaining our core strengths. Our strategy prioritizes stable revenue streams, steady business 
operations, and ensuring continued value for clinicians, investors, and all stakeholders. 

 
Corporate Information 
  

Dynatronics Corporation is a Utah corporation founded in 1983 as Dynatronics Laser Corporation to acquire our predecessor company, Dynatronics Research Company, 
which was also a Utah corporation, formed in 1979. Our principal executive offices are located at 1200 Trapp Road, Eagan, Minnesota, 55121, and our telephone number is (801) 568-
7000. Our website address is www.dynatronics.com. Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and other reports and 
documents we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (or “SEC”) are available via a link to the SEC’s website www.sec.gov on our website under the “Investors” tab, which 
directs you to our page at www.dynatronics.com/investors/. Available on this website as a portal, investors can find or navigate to pertinent information about us, including copies of 
the reports described above, as well as other information such as the following: 

  
  ● Announcements of investor conferences, press releases, and events at which our executives talk about our products and business operations; 
  
  ● Information about our business strategies, financial results and metrics for investors; 
  
  ● Press releases on quarterly earnings, product and service announcements, legal developments and other Company news; 
  

  ● Information and documents related to corporate governance, including our articles of incorporation, bylaws, governance guidelines, Board committee charters, code of 
conduct and ethics and other governance policies; and 

  
  ● Other information we may post from time to time. 
  

You may also subscribe to receive Company alerts and information as it becomes available from the Company. The information found on our website and our Investors 
portal is not part of this or any other report we file with, or furnish to, the SEC. We encourage investors, the media, and others interested in Dynatronics to review the information we 
post on our website and the social media channels listed on our Investor Relations webpage. 
  

We operate on a fiscal year ending June 30. For example, reference to fiscal year 2025 refers to the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025. All references to financial statements in 
this report refer to the consolidated financial statements of our parent company, Dynatronics Corporation, and our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Bird & Cronin, LLC and Hausmann 
Enterprises, LLC. 
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Our Products 
  

We sell products that we manufacture or which are manufactured by Dynatronics, its subsidiaries, or contract manufacturers. 
  

We offer a broad range of restorative products for clinical use in physical therapy, rehabilitation, orthopedics, pain management, and athletic training. Our offerings include 
orthopedic soft bracing and supports, patient care products, treatment tables, rehabilitation equipment, therapeutic modalities, and related supplies. 
  

Our products are used primarily by orthopedists, physical therapists, chiropractors, athletic trainers, sports medicine practitioners, clinics, and hospitals. 
  

Orthopedic Soft Bracing Products 
  

Our orthopedic soft bracing products are designed to accelerate health for patients both pre- and post-surgical intervention, and during fracture recovery, joint stabilization, 
and ligament injury. 
  

Our Bird & Cronin products include, among others, cervical collars, shoulder immobilizers, arm slings, wrist and elbow supports, abdominal and lumbosacral supports, 
maternity supports, knee immobilizers and supports, ankle walkers and supports, plantar fasciitis splints, and cold therapy. We continually seek to update our line of soft bracing 
products. 
 

Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation Products 
  

Our physical therapy and rehabilitation products are designed to accelerate health in a wide range of clinical settings, including physical therapy, rehabilitation, pain 
management, and athletic training. 
  

Our Solaris, Hausmann, PROTEAM, Forged, Timber and Titan brands include products for physical therapy, rehabilitation, and athletic training. These products include 
treatment tables, rehabilitation equipment, therapeutic modalities, and related supplies. 
  

Therapeutic Modalities: We manufacture and distribute a premium line of therapeutic modality devices that include electrotherapy, ultrasound, phototherapy, traction, hot 
and cold therapy, and electrodes. These modalities can be effective in treating pain, increasing local blood circulation, promoting relaxation of muscle spasms, preventing retardation 
of disuse atrophy, and accelerating muscle re-education. Our branded line of modalities are well known to clinicians across all of our end-markets. 
  

Treatment Tables, Exercise and Rehabilitation Equipment: We manufacture a premium line of power and manually operated treatment tables, mat platforms, work tables, 
parallel bars, training stairs, weight racks, and other related equipment. These products are essential to treating patients in a variety of clinical settings. 
  
Sales Mix among Key Products 
  

No single product accounted for more than 10% of total revenues in fiscal years 2025 or 2024. Sales of product we manufacture or are manufactured by our contract 
manufacturers represented approximately 98% of total product sales, excluding freight and other revenue, in both fiscal years 2025 and 2024. 
  
Patents and Trademarks 
  

Patents. We own a United States patent on our thermoelectric technology that will remain in effect until February 2033. We also hold a United States patent on our combination 
traction/phototherapy technology that will remain in effect until December 2026. 
  

Trademarks and Copyrights. We own trademarks used in our business, particularly marks relating to our corporate and product names. United States trademark registrations 
that are significant to our business include Dynatron®, Dynatron Solaris®, Bird & Cronin®, Hausmann®, and PROTEAM™. 
 

Federal registration of a trademark enables the registered owner of the mark to bar the unauthorized use of the registered mark in connection with a similar product in the 
same channels of trade by any third party anywhere in the United States, regardless of whether the registered owner has ever used the trademark in the area where the unauthorized use 
occurs. We may register additional trademarks in countries where our products are or may be sold in the future. Protection of registered trademarks in some jurisdictions may not be as 
extensive as the protection provided by registration under U.S. law. Trademark protection continues in some countries so long as the trademark is used, and in other countries, so long 
as the trademark is registered. Trademark registration is for fixed terms and can be renewed indefinitely. Our print materials are also protected under copyright laws, both in the United 
States and internationally. 

  
We also claim ownership and protection of certain product names, unregistered trademarks, and service marks under common law. Common law trademark rights do not 

provide the same level of protection that is afforded by the registration of a trademark. In addition, common law trademark rights are limited to the geographic area in which the 
trademark is actually used. We believe these trademarks, whether registered or claimed under common law, constitute valuable assets, adding to recognition of the Company and the 
effective marketing of our products. 

  
Trade Secrets. We own certain intellectual property, including trade secrets that we seek to protect, in part, through confidentiality agreements with key employees and other 

parties involved in manufacturing, research, and development. Even where these agreements exist, there can be no assurance that these agreements will not be breached, that we would 
have adequate remedies for any breach, or that our trade secrets will not otherwise become known to or independently developed by competitors. 

  
We intend to protect our legal rights in our intellectual property by all appropriate legal action. Consequently, we may become involved from time to time in litigation to 

determine the enforceability, scope, and validity of any of the foregoing proprietary rights. Any litigation related to our intellectual property could result in substantial cost and divert 
the efforts of management and technical personnel. 
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Warranty Service 
  

We provide a warranty on all manufactured products for time periods generally ranging in length from 90 days to fifteen years from the date of sale. We service warranty 
claims on these products at our Utah, New Jersey, and Minnesota sites depending on the product and service required. Our warranty policies are comparable to warranties generally 
available in the industry. Warranty claims are not material. 
 
Customers and Markets 
  

We sell products to licensed practitioners such as orthopedists, physical therapists, chiropractors, and athletic trainers. Our customers also include professional sports teams 
and universities, sports medicine specialists, post-acute care facilities, hospitals, clinics, retail distributors and equipment manufacturer (“OEM”) partners. We utilize a network of over 
100 core independent dealers throughout the United States. Most dealers purchase and take title to the products, which they then sell to end users. In addition, we utilize a network of 
independent sales representatives combined with a small number of targeted direct sales representatives. 

  
We have entered into agreements with independent clinics and hospitals, regional and national chains of physical therapy clinics and hospitals, integrated delivery networks, 

group purchasing organizations (“GPOs”), and government agencies. We sell products directly to these clinics, hospitals, and groups pursuant to preferred pricing arrangements. In 
fiscal year 2025, two major customers were responsible for 14.5% and 12.0% of our total net sales. Three major customers were responsible for 13.0%, 12.7% and 12.7% of our total 
net sales in fiscal year 2024.  
 
Competition 
  

We do not compete with a single competitor across all of our product lines. Our industry comprises numerous competitors of varying sizes, including personal care companies, 
branded consumer healthcare companies and private label manufacturers. Information necessary to determine or reasonably estimate our market share or that of any competitor in any 
of these markets of our highly fragmented industry is not readily available to us. 
  

We compete against various manufacturers and distributors, some of which are larger and more established, and have greater resources available to them, than Dynatronics. 
Our competitors in soft bracing products are primarily regional manufacturers, as well as several large corporations. Our competitors in treatment tables, exercise and rehabilitation 
equipment, and related supplies are from several domestic and international manufacturers and distributors. 
  

In the clinical market for therapeutic modality devices, we compete with both domestic and foreign companies. Several of our products are protected by patents or where 
patents have expired, the proprietary technology on which those patents were based. We believe that the integration of advanced technology in the design of our products has 
distinguished Dynatronics-branded products in this competitive market. For example, we were the first company to integrate infrared phototherapy as part of a combination therapy 
device. We believe these factors give us a competitive edge. Our primary domestic competitors in the therapeutic device manufacturing market include four large manufacturers. 
  

Trusted high-quality brands, on-time product delivery, and superior customer care are of key importance for us to remain competitive in this market and to maintain established 
relationships within our distribution channels. 
 
Manufacturing and Quality Assurance 
  

We produce products at our facilities in Northvale, New Jersey, Eagan, Minnesota, and Cottonwood Heights, Utah. Our products utilize custom components both fashioned 
internally from sourced raw materials, as well as components purchased from third-party suppliers. All parts and components purchased from third-party suppliers meet established 
specifications. Trained staff perform all sub-assembly, final assembly and quality assurance testing by following established procedures. Our design and development process ensures 
that our products meet specified design requirements. We strive to manage the suppliers of components and materials to ensure their quality and availability for our manufacturing 
teams. 
  
Regulatory Matters 
  

The manufacture, packaging, labeling, advertising, promotion, distribution and sale of our products are subject to regulation by numerous international, national and local 
governmental agencies in the United States and other countries. In the United States, the FDA regulates some of our products pursuant to the Medical Device Amendment of the Food, 
Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or FD&C Act, and regulations promulgated under the FD&C Act. Advertising and other forms of promotion (including claims) and methods of marketing of 
the products are subject to regulation by the FDA and by the Federal Trade Commission, or FTC, under the Federal Trade Commission Act, as applicable. 
  

As a medical device manufacturer, we are required to register with the FDA and are subject to inspection for compliance with the FDA’s Quality Systems Regulations, as 
applicable. These regulations require us to manufacture our products and maintain related documents in a prescribed manner with respect to manufacturing, testing, and control activities. 
Further, we are required to comply with various FDA requirements for reportable events involving our devices. The FD&C Act and its medical device reporting regulations require us 
to provide information to the FDA if allegations are made that one of our products has caused or contributed to a death or serious injury, or if a malfunction of a product would likely 
cause or contribute to death or serious injury. The FDA also prohibits an approved device from being marketed for unapproved uses. All of our therapeutic treatment devices, as 
currently designed, are cleared for marketing under section 510(k) of the Medical Device Amendment to the FD&C Act, or are considered 510(k) exempt. If a device is subject to 
section 510(k) clearance requirements, the FDA must receive pre-market notification from the manufacturer of its intent to market the device. The FDA must find that the device is 
substantially equivalent to a legally marketed predicate device before the agency will clear the new device for marketing. 

 
We intend to continuously improve our products after they have been introduced into the market. Certain modifications to our marketed devices may require a pre-market 

notification and clearance before the changed device may be marketed, if the change or modification could significantly affect safety and/or effectiveness. As appropriate, we may 
therefore submit future 510(k) notifications to the FDA. No assurance can be given that clearance or approval of such new applications will be granted by the FDA on a timely basis, 
or at all. Furthermore, we may be required to submit extensive pre-clinical and clinical data depending on the nature of the product changes. All of our devices, unless specifically 
exempted by regulation, are subject to the FD&C Act’s general controls, which include, among other things, registration and listing, adherence to the Quality System Regulation 
requirements for manufacturing, medical device reporting and the potential for voluntary and mandatory recalls described above. 

 
 
 
 

4 
 
 
 
 

 



 
 

 
 

  
  

In March 2017, the FDA published guidance relating to Class II devices that would no longer be required to submit a pre-market notification (510(k)). This list was finalized 
in the Federal Register on July 11, 2017. Among the Class II devices exempted by this determination are some phototherapy devices such as those manufactured by us. That guidance 
indicates that such devices are considered safe and effective without adding the burden of a pre-market approval by the FDA. While this change diminishes the regulatory burden for 
such products, it also lowers the barriers to entry for competitive products. We view this change as generally positive for us and our ability to leverage existing technology competencies 
in this segment. 
  

Failure to comply with applicable FDA regulatory requirements may result in, among other things, injunctions, product withdrawals, recalls, product seizures, fines, and 
criminal prosecutions. Any such action by the FDA could materially adversely affect our ability to successfully market our products. Our Utah, Minnesota, and New Jersey facilities 
are subject to periodic inspection by the FDA for compliance with the FDA’s cGMP and other requirements, including appropriate reporting regulations and various requirements for 
labeling and promotion. 

 
Advertising of our products is subject to regulation by the FTC under the FTC Act, as applicable. Section 5 of the FTC Act prohibits unfair methods of competition and 

unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce. Section 12 of the FTC Act provides that the dissemination or the causing to be disseminated of any false advertisement 
pertaining to, among other things, drugs, cosmetics, devices or foods, is an unfair or deceptive act or practice. Pursuant to this FTC requirement, we are required to have adequate 
substantiation for all advertising claims made about our products. The type of substantiation required depends upon the product claims made. 
 

If the FTC has reason to believe the law is being violated (e.g., a manufacturer or distributor does not possess adequate substantiation for product claims), it can initiate an 
enforcement action. The FTC has a variety of administrative and judicial processes and remedies available to it for enforcement, including compulsory process authority, cease and 
desist orders, and injunctions. FTC enforcement could result in orders requiring, among other things, limits on advertising, consumer redress, and divestiture of assets, rescission of 
contracts, or such other relief as may be deemed necessary. Violation of such orders could result in substantial financial or other penalties. Any such action against us by the FTC could 
materially and adversely affect our ability to successfully market our products. 
  

From time to time, legislation is introduced in the Congress of the United States or in state legislatures that could significantly change the statutory provisions governing the 
approval, manufacturing, and marketing of medical devices and products like those we manufacture. In addition, FDA regulations and guidance are often revised or reinterpreted by 
the agency in ways that may significantly affect our business and our products. It is impossible to predict whether legislative changes will be enacted, or FDA regulations, guidance, or 
interpretations will be changed, and what the impact of such changes, if any, may be on our business and our results of operations. We cannot predict the nature of any future laws, 
regulations, interpretations, or applications, nor can we determine what effect additional governmental regulations or administrative orders, when and if promulgated, domestically or 
internationally, would have on our business in the future. They could include, however, the recall or discontinuance of certain products, additional record keeping, expanded 
documentation of the properties of certain products, expanded or different labeling, and additional scientific substantiation. The necessity of complying with any or all such requirements 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition. 
  

The Food and Drug Administration Amendments Act of 2007 and the Food and Drug Administration Safety and Innovation Act of 2012 amended the FD&C Act to require 
the FDA to promulgate regulations to implement a unique device identification (“UDI”) system. The UDI rule phased in the implementation of the UDI regulations, generally beginning 
with the highest-risk devices (i.e., Class III medical devices) and ending with the lowest-risk devices. Most compliance dates were reached as of September 24, 2018, with a final set 
of requirements for low-risk devices being reached on September 24, 2022 (extended to December 8, 2022). The UDI regulations require “labelers” to include unique device identifiers 
(“UDIs”), with a content and format prescribed by the FDA and issued under a system operated by an FDA-accredited issuing agency, on the labels and packages of medical devices, 
and to directly mark certain devices with UDIs. The UDI regulations also require labelers to submit certain information concerning UDI-labeled devices to the FDA, much of which 
information is publicly available on an FDA database, the Global Unique Device Identification Database. The UDI regulations and subsequent FDA guidance regarding the UDI 
requirements provide for certain exceptions, alternatives and time extensions. For example, the UDI regulations include a general exception for Class I devices exempt from the Quality 
System Regulation (other than record-keeping and complaint files). Regulated labelers include entities such as device manufacturers, repackagers, reprocessors and relabelers that cause 
a device’s label to be applied or modified, with the intent that the device will be commercially distributed without any subsequent replacement or modification of the label. 
  

In addition to compliance with FDA rules and regulations, we are also required to comply with international regulatory laws or other regulatory schemes used by other 
countries in which we choose to do business. Foreign governmental regulations have become increasingly stringent and more common, and we may become subject to more rigorous 
regulation by foreign governmental authorities in the future. Penalties for non-compliance with foreign governmental regulation could be severe, including revocation or suspension of 
a company’s business license and criminal sanctions. Any domestic or foreign governmental law or regulation imposed in the future may have a material adverse effect on us. We 
believe all of our present products are in compliance in all material respects with all applicable performance standards in countries where the products are sold. 
 
Foreign Government Regulation 
  

Although it is not a current focus, we may expand our activities to market our products in select international markets in the future. The regulatory requirements for our 
products vary from country to country. Some countries impose product standards, packaging requirements, labeling requirements and import restrictions on some of the products we 
manufacture and distribute. Each country has its own tariff regulations, duties and tax requirements. Failure to comply with applicable foreign regulatory requirements may subject us 
to fines, suspension or withdrawal of regulatory approvals, product recalls, seizure of products, operating restrictions and criminal prosecution. 
 
Environment 
  

Environmental regulations and the cost of compliance with them are not material to our business. Numerous federal, state and local laws regulate the sale of products 
containing certain identified ingredients that may impact human health and the environment. For instance, California has enacted Proposition 65, which requires the disclosure of 
specified listed ingredient chemicals on the labels of products sold in that state and the use of warning labels when such ingredients may be found. We believe we are compliant with 
such regulations. 
 
Seasonality 
  

Our business is affected by some seasonality, which could result in fluctuation in our operating results. Sales are typically higher in our first and fourth fiscal quarters (the 
summer and spring months), while sales in our second and third fiscal quarters are generally lower (the fall and winter months). Therefore, our quarterly operating results are not 
necessarily indicative of operating results for the entire year, and historical operating results in a quarterly or annual period are not necessarily indicative of future operating results. 
 
Employees 
  

As of June 30, 2025, we employed 88 full-time employees. Certain of our employees (35 individuals) are subject to a collective bargaining agreement scheduled to expire in 
February 2028. We believe our labor relations with both union and non-union employees are satisfactory. 
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Item 1A. Risk Factors 
  

In addition to the risks described elsewhere in this report and in certain of our other filings with the SEC, we have identified the following risks and uncertainties, among 
others, as risks that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those contemplated by us or by any forward-looking statement contained in this report. You should consider 
the following risk factors, in addition to the information presented elsewhere in this report, particularly under the heading “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements,” 
on page 2 of this report, and statements and disclosures contained in the sections “Part I, Item 1. Business,” “Part II, Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations,” as well as in the filings we make from time to time with the SEC, in evaluating us, our business and an investment in our securities. The fact that 
some of these risk factors may be the same or similar to those that we have included in other reports that we have filed with the SEC in past periods means only that the risks are present 
in multiple periods. We believe that many of the risks that are described here are part of doing business in the industry in which we operate and will likely be present in all periods. The 
fact that certain risks are endemic to the industry does not lessen their significance. 
  
Substantial Doubt About Our Ability to Continue as a Going Concern 
 

As noted in the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on our audited consolidated financial statements and a related footnote to our audited consolidated 
financial statements, we have incurred significant recurring operating losses primarily driven by recent yearly declines in revenue, recurring negative cash flows, and continued reduction 
in liquidity that have caused the Company to determine there is substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. In response to these challenges, the Company is in 
the process of implementing a series of strategic actions aimed at improving liquidity, increasing operating efficiency and revenues, and ensuring business continuity. While we believe 
that we will be able to successfully execute on these strategic actions, there can be no assurances that we will be successful in these efforts. If we are unable to successfully execute on 
these strategies, our business, prospects, financial condition, and results of operations would be materially and adversely affected, and we may be unable to continue as a going concern. 
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America on a going concern basis, 
which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. Accordingly, the financial statements do not include any adjustments 
relating to the recoverability of assets and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should we be unable to continue as a going concern. 
 
Risks Related to Our Business and Industry 
  

We expect to rely on third-party manufacturers and will be dependent on their quality and effectiveness. Our electrotherapy products require precise, high-quality 
manufacturing. The failure to achieve and maintain high manufacturing standards, including failure to detect or control unexpected events or unanticipated manufacturing errors, or the 
frequent occurrence of such errors, could result in patient injury or death, delays or failures in product testing or delivery, cost overruns, product recalls or withdrawals and other 
problems that could seriously hurt our business. Third party manufacturers can encounter difficulties involving manufacturing processes, facilities, operations, production yields, quality 
control, compliance, and shortages of qualified personnel.  
 

If for any reason our third-party manufacturer is unable or unwilling to perform, we may not be able to terminate our agreements with them, and we may not be able to locate 
alternative manufacturers or enter into favorable agreements with them, nor can we be certain that any such third-parties will have the manufacturing capacity to meet future 
requirements. If these manufacturers, or any alternate manufacturer, experience any significant difficulties in their respective manufacturing processes for our electrotherapy products, 
or should these manufacturers cease doing business with us, we could experience significant interruptions in the supply of our electrotherapy products or may not be able to create a 
supply of our electrotherapy products at all. Were we to encounter manufacturing issues, our ability to produce a sufficient supply of our electrotherapy products might be negatively 
affected. Our inability to coordinate the efforts of our third-party manufacturer, or the lack of capacity available at our third-party manufacturer, could impair our ability to supply our 
electrotherapy products at required levels. 
  

We cannot guarantee our manufacturing and assembly partners will be able to manufacture our electrotherapy products at commercial scale on a cost-effective basis. If the 
commercial-scale manufacturing costs of our electrotherapy products are higher than expected, these costs may significantly impact our operating results. 
  

Disruption of our supply chain could have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. Our ability to make, move, and sell our products 
is critical to our success. Damage or disruption to our supply chain, including third-party manufacturing, assembly or transportation and distribution capabilities, due to weather, 
including any potential effects of climate change, natural disaster, fire or explosion, terrorism, pandemics (such as the COVID-19 pandemic), strikes, government action, or other 
reasons beyond our control or the control of our suppliers and business partners, could impair our ability to manufacture or sell our products. Failure to take adequate steps to mitigate 
the likelihood or potential impact of such events, or to effectively manage such events if they occur, particularly when a product is sourced from a single supplier or location, could 
adversely affect our business or financial results. In addition, disputes with significant suppliers, including disputes regarding pricing or performance, could adversely affect our ability 
to supply products to our customers and could materially and adversely affect our product sales, financial condition, and results of operations. 
 

Inflation and price fluctuations of raw materials, energy and other inputs could adversely affect our business. As a manufacturer, our sales and profitability are dependent 
on the availability and cost of raw materials and labor and other inputs, including energy. All of the raw materials we use are purchased from third parties. Prices for these raw materials 
are subject to substantial fluctuations that are beyond our control due to factors such as changing economic conditions, pandemics, such as COVID-19, currency and commodity price 
fluctuations, resource availability, transportation costs, weather conditions and natural disasters, geopolitical risks, including war (such as the Russia-Ukraine conflict) and instability, 
and other factors impacting supply and demand pressures. 
  

While we have largely been able to successfully manage through these supply disruptions and related price volatility, there is no assurance we will be able to successfully 
navigate through any ongoing and future disruptions. Increases in costs and disruptions in supply can have an adverse effect on our business and financial results. Although we seek to 
mitigate these risks through various strategies, including by entering into contracts with certain customers which permit certain price adjustments to reflect increased raw material costs 
or by otherwise seeking to increase our prices to offset increases in raw material costs and seeking alternative sources of supply for key raw materials, there is no guarantee that we will 
be able to anticipate or mitigate commodity and input price movements or mitigate supply disruptions. In addition, there may be delays in adjusting prices to correspond with underlying 
raw material costs and corresponding impacts on our working capital and any failure to anticipate or mitigate against such movements could have an adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows, which effect may be material. 

 
 We are currently operating in a period of economic uncertainty, which has been significantly impacted by geopolitical instability due to the ongoing conflicts in Ukraine 

and in the Middle East and heightened tensions resulting from recent attacks on shipping vessels in the Red Sea. Our business, financial condition and results of operations could be 
materially adversely affected by any negative impact on the global economy from any geopolitical tensions.  
  

Although our business has not been materially impacted by the ongoing military conflicts to date, it is impossible to predict the extent to which our operations, or those of 
our suppliers and manufacturers, will be impacted in the short and long term, or the ways in which the conflict may impact our business. The extent and duration of the military action, 
sanctions and resulting market disruptions are impossible to predict, but could be substantial. Any such disruptions may also magnify the impact of other risks described in this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K. 
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We face risks related to health epidemics and other widespread outbreaks of contagious disease, which could significantly disrupt our manufacturing and impact our 

operating results. Significant outbreaks of contagious diseases, and other adverse public health developments, could have a material impact on our business operations and operating 
results. We have implemented guidelines and redundancies to promote employee health and wellness in order to meet our obligations as a manufacturer and infrastructure provider. If 
our employee health and wellness activities are not fully successful, it could have a material effect on our ability to manufacture products in required quantities. We are closely 
monitoring the developments and continually assessing the potential impact on our business. Any prolonged disruption to our suppliers, our manufacturing, or our customers could 
negatively impact our sales, operating results, collection of receivables, and valuation of inventory. 
 

Any current or future outbreak of a health epidemic or other adverse public health developments could disrupt our manufacturing and supply chain, and adversely affect our 
business and operating results. Our business could be adversely affected by the effects of health epidemics. For example, our materials suppliers could be disrupted by conditions 
related to epidemics, possibly resulting in disruption to our supply chain. If our suppliers are unable or fail to fulfill their obligations to us for any reason, we may not be able to 
manufacture our products and satisfy customer demand or our obligations under sales agreements in a timely manner, and our business could be harmed as a result. In addition, a 
significant health epidemic could adversely affect the economies and financial markets of many countries, resulting in an economic downturn that could affect demand for our products, 
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.  
 

We have a history of losses, and we may not sustain profitability in the future. Although we had net income in fiscal year 2021, we have incurred net losses for 13 of the 14 
previous fiscal years. We cannot predict when we will again achieve profitable operations or that we will not require additional financing to fulfill our business objectives. We may not 
be able to increase revenue in future periods, and our revenue could decline or grow more slowly than we expect. We may incur significant losses in the future for many reasons, 
including due to the risks described in this report. 

 
We have incurred and may in the future incur non-cash impairment charges. In the future we may incur additional non-cash impairment charges if there is a sustained 

decline in our stock price, adverse changes in our projected cash flows, or changes in key assumptions, including but not limited to lower revenue growth, lower operating margins, or 
a lower terminal growth rate. Such events or changes may require us to conduct additional impairment testing of our goodwill, intangible assets, and long-lived assets, potentially 
resulting in further non-cash impairment charges. Any such charges would likely have a material adverse effect on our consolidated statements of operations and consolidated balance 
sheets in the reporting period in which they are recorded. 
  

We may need additional funding and may be unable to raise additional capital when needed, which could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition. 
In the future, we may require additional capital to pursue business opportunities or acquisitions or respond to challenges and unforeseen circumstances. We may also decide to engage 
in equity or debt financings or enter into credit facilities for other reasons. We may not be able to secure additional debt or equity financing in a timely manner, on favorable terms, or 
at all. Any debt financing obtained by us in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to our capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may 
make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities, including potential acquisitions. Failure to obtain additional financing when needed or on 
acceptable terms would have a material adverse effect on our business operations. 
  

Our inability to successfully manage growth through acquisitions, and the integration of acquired businesses, products or technologies may present significant challenges 
and could harm our operating results. Our business plan includes the acquisition of other businesses, products, and technologies. In the future we expect to acquire or invest in 
businesses, products or technologies that we believe could complement our existing product lines, expand our customer base and operations, and enhance our technical capabilities or 
otherwise offer growth or cost-saving opportunities. As we grow through acquisitions, we face additional challenges of integrating the operations, personnel, culture, information 
management systems and other characteristics of the acquired entity with our own. Efforts to integrate future acquisitions may be hampered by delays, the loss of certain employees, 
changes in management, suppliers or customers, proceedings resulting from employment terminations, culture clashes, unbudgeted costs, and other issues, which may occur at levels 
that are more severe or prolonged than anticipated. If we identify an appropriate acquisition candidate, we may not be successful in negotiating favorable terms of the acquisition, 
financing the acquisition or effectively integrating the acquired business, product or technology into our existing business and operations. Our due diligence may fail to identify all of 
the problems, liabilities or other shortcomings or challenges of an acquired business, product or technology, including issues related to intellectual property, product quality or product 
architecture, regulatory compliance practices, revenue recognition or other accounting practices, or employee or customer issues. 
  

We have incurred, and will likely continue to incur, expenses in connection with negotiating and consummating acquisitions. We may not achieve the synergies or other 
benefits we expected to achieve. And we may incur write-downs, impairment charges or unforeseen liabilities, all of which could negatively affect our operating results or financial 
position or could otherwise harm our business. If we finance acquisitions by issuing convertible debt or equity securities, the ownership interest of our existing shareholders may be 
significantly diluted, which could adversely affect the market price of our stock. Further, contemplating, investigating, negotiating or completing an acquisition and integrating an 
acquired business, product or technology could divert management and employee time and resources from other matters that are important to our existing business. 
  

If we fail to establish new sales and distribution relationships or maintain our existing relationships, or if our third party distributors and dealers fail to commit sufficient 
time and effort or are otherwise ineffective in selling our products, our results of operations and future growth could be adversely impacted. The sale and distribution of certain of our 
products depend, in part, on our relationships with a network of third-party distributors and dealers. These third-party distributors and dealers maintain the customer relationships with 
the hospitals, clinics, orthopedists, physical therapists and other healthcare professionals that purchase, use and recommend the use of our products. Although our internal sales staff 
trains and manages these third-party distributors and dealers, we do not control or directly monitor the efforts that they make to sell our products. In addition, some of the dealers that 
we use to sell our products also sell products that directly compete with our core product offerings. These dealers may not dedicate the necessary effort to market and sell our products. 
If we fail to attract and maintain relationships with third-party distributors and dealers or fail to adequately train and monitor the efforts of the third-party distributors and dealers that 
market and sell our products, or if our existing third-party distributors and dealers choose not to carry our products, our results of operations and future growth could be adversely 
affected. 
 

 Healthcare reform in the United States has had and is expected to continue to have a significant effect on our business and on our ability to expand and grow our business. 
The Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act, significantly expanded health insurance coverage to uninsured Americans and changed the 
way health care is financed by both governmental and private payers. These provisions may be modified, repealed, or otherwise invalidated, in whole or in part. Future rulemaking 
could affect rebates, prices or the rate of price increases for health care products and services, or required reporting and disclosure. We cannot predict the timing or impact of any future 
rulemaking or changes in the law. 
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Our products are regulated by numerous government agencies, both inside and outside the United States. The impact of this factor on us is direct, to the extent we are subject 

to these laws and regulations, and indirect in that in a number of situations, even though we may not be directly regulated by specific healthcare laws and regulations, our products must 
be capable of being used by our customers in a manner that complies with those laws and regulations. The manufacture, distribution, marketing, and use of some of our products are 
subject to extensive regulation and increased scrutiny by the FDA and other regulatory authorities globally. Any new Class II product must undergo lengthy and rigorous testing and 
other extensive, costly and time-consuming procedures mandated by the FDA and foreign regulatory authorities. Changes to current Class II products may be subject to vigorous review, 
including additional 510(k) and other regulatory submissions, and marketing clearances are not certain. Our facilities must be registered prior to production and remain subject to 
inspection from time to time thereafter. Failure to comply with the requirements of the FDA or other regulatory authorities, including a failed inspection or a failure in our adverse event 
reporting system, could result in adverse inspection reports, warning letters, product recalls or seizures, monetary sanctions, injunctions to halt the manufacture and distribution of 
products, civil or criminal sanctions, refusal of a government to grant approvals or licenses, restrictions on operations or withdrawal of existing approvals and licenses. Any of these 
actions could cause a loss of customer confidence in us and our products, which could adversely affect our sales. The requirements of regulatory authorities, including interpretative 
guidance, are subject to change and compliance with additional or changing requirements or interpretative guidance may subject us or our products to further review, result in product 
launch delays or otherwise increase our costs. 

 
Changing market patterns may affect demand for our products. Increasingly, medical markets are moving toward evidence-based practices. Such a move could shrink demand 

for products we offer if it is deemed there is inadequate evidence to support the efficacy of the products. Likewise, to achieve market acceptance in such environments may require 
expenditure of funds to do clinical research that may or may not prove adequate efficacy to satisfy all customers. 
 

The cost of healthcare has risen significantly over the past decade and numerous initiatives and reforms initiated by legislators, regulators and third-party payers to curb 
these costs have resulted in a consolidation trend in the restorative products industry as well as among our customers, including healthcare providers. These conditions could result in 
greater pricing pressures and limitations on our ability to sell to important market segments, such as group purchasing organizations, integrated delivery networks and large single 
accounts. We expect that market demand, government regulation, third-party reimbursement policies and societal pressures will continue to change the worldwide healthcare industry, 
resulting in further business consolidations and alliances which may exert further downward pressure on the prices of our products and adversely impact our business, financial condition 
and results of operations. 
  

The sale, marketing, and pricing of our products, and relationships with healthcare providers are under increased scrutiny by federal, state, and foreign government agencies. 
Compliance with anti-kickback statutes, false claims laws, the FD&C Act (including as these laws relate to off-label promotion of products), and other healthcare related laws, as well 
as competition, data and patient privacy, and export and import laws, is under increased focus by the agencies charged with overseeing such activities, including the FDA, the Office 
of Inspector General (“OIG”), the Department of Justice (“DOJ”) and the FTC. The DOJ and the SEC have increased their focus on the enforcement of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt 
Practices Act (“FCPA”) described below under “Our commercial activities internationally are subject to special risks associated with doing business in environments that present a 
heightened corruption and trade sanctions risk.” The laws and standards governing the promotion, sale, and reimbursement related to our products and laws and regulations governing 
our relationships with healthcare providers and governments can be complicated, are subject to frequent change and may be violated unknowingly. Violations or allegations of violations 
of these laws may result in large civil and criminal penalties, debarment from participating in government programs, diversion of management time, attention and resources and may 
otherwise have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In the event of a violation, or the allegation of a violation of these laws, we may incur 
substantial costs associated with compliance or to alter one or more of our sales and marketing practices and we may be subject to enforcement actions which could adversely affect 
our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
  

Our commercial activities internationally are subject to special risks associated with doing business in environments and jurisdictions that present a heightened corruption 
and trade sanctions risk. We operate our business and market and sell products internationally, including in countries in Asia, Latin America, and the Middle East, which may be 
considered business environments that pose a relatively higher risk of corruption than the United States, and therefore present greater political, economic and operational risk to us, 
including an increased risk of trade sanction violations. In addition, there are numerous risks inherent in conducting our business internationally, including, but not limited to, potential 
instability in international markets, changes in regulatory requirements applicable to international operations, currency fluctuations in foreign countries, political, economic and social 
conditions in foreign countries and complex U.S. and foreign laws and treaties, including tax laws, the FCPA, and the Bribery Act of 2010 (“U.K. Anti-Bribery Act”). The FCPA 
prohibits U.S.-based companies and their intermediaries from making improper payments to government officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. The FCPA also 
imposes recordkeeping and internal controls requirements on public companies in the U.S. The U.K. Anti-Bribery Act prohibits both domestic and international bribery as well as 
bribery across both public and private sectors. In recent years, the number of investigations and other enforcement activities under these laws has increased. As we expand our business 
to include pursuit of opportunities in certain parts of the world that experience government corruption, in certain circumstances compliance with anti-bribery laws may conflict with 
local customs and practices. Our policies mandate compliance with all applicable anti-bribery laws. Further, we require our partners, subcontractors, agents and others who work for us 
or on our behalf to comply with these and other anti-bribery laws. If we fail to enforce our policies and procedures properly or maintain adequate record-keeping and internal accounting 
practices to accurately record our transactions, we may be subject to regulatory sanctions. In the event that we believe or have reason to believe that our employees have or may have 
violated applicable anti-corruption laws, including the FCPA, trade sanctions or other laws or regulations, we are required to investigate or have outside counsel investigate the relevant 
facts and circumstances, and if violations are found or suspected, could face civil and criminal penalties, and significant costs for investigations, litigation, settlements and judgments, 
which in turn could have a material adverse effect on our business. 
 

If significant tariffs or other restrictions are placed on imports or any related counter-measures are taken by foreign countries, our revenue and results of operations may 
be materially harmed. Potential changes in international trade relations between the United States and other countries could have a material adverse effect on our business. There is 
currently significant uncertainty about the future relationship between the United States and various other countries, with respect to trade policies, treaties, government regulations and 
tariffs. The U.S. government has adopted a new approach to trade policy including in some cases to renegotiate, or potentially terminate, certain existing bilateral or multi-lateral trade 
agreements. The U.S. government has also imposed tariffs on certain foreign goods. These measures may materially increase costs for goods imported into the United States. This in 
turn could require us to materially increase prices to our customers which may reduce demand, or, if we are unable to increase prices to adequately address any tariffs, quotas or duties 
result in lowering our margin on products sold. Changes in U.S. trade policy have resulted in, and could result in more, U.S. trading partners adopting responsive trade policies, including 
imposition of increased tariffs, quotas or duties, making it more difficult or costly for us to export our products to those countries. The implementation of a border tax, tariff or higher 
customs duties on our products manufactured abroad or components that we import into the U.S., or any potential corresponding actions by other countries in which we do business, 
could negatively impact our financial performance.  
 

If we fail to obtain regulatory approval in foreign jurisdictions, then we cannot market our products in those jurisdictions. We sell some of our products in foreign 
jurisdictions. Many foreign countries in which we market or may market our products have regulatory bodies and restrictions similar to those of the FDA. International sales are subject 
to foreign government regulation, the requirements of which vary substantially from country to country. The time required to obtain approval by a foreign country may be longer or 
shorter than that required for FDA clearance and the requirements may differ. As an example, companies are now required to obtain a CE Mark, which shows conformance with the 
requirements of applicable European Conformity directives, prior to the sale of some medical devices within the European Union. Some of our current products that require CE Markings 
have them and it is anticipated that additional and future products may require them as well. We may be required to conduct additional testing or to provide additional information, 
resulting in additional expenses, to obtain necessary approvals. If we fail to obtain approval in such foreign jurisdictions, we would not be able to sell our products in such jurisdictions, 
thereby reducing the potential revenue from the sale of our products. 
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We store, process, and use data, some of which contain personal information and are subject to complex and evolving laws and regulations regarding privacy, data protection 
and other matters, which are subject to change. Some of the data we store, process, and use, contains personal information, subjecting us to a variety of laws and regulations in the 
United States and other countries with respect to privacy, rights of publicity, data protection, content, protection of minors, and consumer protection. These laws can be particularly 
restrictive. Both in the United States and abroad, these laws and regulations are evolving and remain subject to change. Several proposals are pending before federal, state and foreign 
legislative and regulatory bodies that could significantly affect our business. A number of states have enacted laws or are considering the enactment of laws governing the release of 
credit card or other personal information received from consumers: 
  
● California has enacted legislation, the California Consumer Privacy Act (“CCPA”) that, among other things, requires covered companies to provide new disclosures to 

California consumers, and afford such consumers new abilities to opt-out of certain sales of personal information. The CCPA went into effect on January 1, 2020. 
  
● The EU General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”), effective May 2018, establishes new requirements applicable to the processing of personal data (i.e., data which 

identifies an individual or from which an individual is identifiable), affords new data protection rights to individuals, and imposes penalties for serious data breaches. 
Individuals also have a right to compensation under GDPR for financial or non-financial losses. GDPR has imposed additional responsibility and liability in relation to 
our processing of personal data in the EU. GDPR has also required us to change our various policies and procedures in the EU and, if we are not compliant, could 
materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

  
● Canada’s Personal Information and Protection of Electronic Documents Act provides Canadian residents with privacy protections in regard to transactions with businesses 

and organizations in the private sector and sets out ground rules for how private sector organizations may collect, use, and disclose personal information in the course of 
commercial activities. 

  
● In November 2016, the Standing Committee of China’s National People’s Congress passed its Cybersecurity Law (“CSL”), which took effect in June 2017. The CSL is 

the first Chinese law that systematically lays out regulatory requirements on cybersecurity and data protection, subjecting many previously under-regulated or unregulated 
activities in cyberspace to government scrutiny. 

  
The costs of compliance with, and other burdens imposed by, the GDPR, CSL and related laws may limit the use and adoption of our products and services and could have 

an adverse impact on our business, operating results and financial condition. Foreign governments also may attempt to apply such laws extraterritorially or through treaties or other 
arrangements with U.S. governmental entities. In addition, the application and interpretation of these laws and regulations are often uncertain and could result in investigations, claims, 
changes to our business practices, increased cost of operations and declines in sales, any of which could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial 
condition. We cannot assure you that the privacy policies and other statements regarding our practices will be found sufficient to protect us from liability or adverse publicity relating 
to the privacy and security of personal information. Whether and how existing local and international privacy and consumer protection laws in various jurisdictions apply to the internet 
and other online technologies is still uncertain and may take years to resolve. Privacy laws and regulations, if drafted or interpreted broadly, could be deemed to apply to the technology 
we use and could restrict our information collection methods or decrease the amount and utility of the information that we would be permitted to collect. A determination by a court or 
government agency of a failure, or perceived failure, by us, the third parties with whom we work or our products and services to protect employee, applicant, vendor, website visitor or 
customer personal data (including as a result of a breach by or of a third-party provider) or to comply with any privacy-related laws, government regulations or directives or industry 
self-regulatory principles or our posted privacy policies could result in damage to our reputation, legal proceedings or actions against us by governmental entities or otherwise, which 
could have an adverse effect on our business. In addition, concerns about our practices with regard to the collection, use, disclosure, or security of personally identifiable information 
or other privacy-related matters, even if unfounded and even if we are in compliance with applicable laws, could damage our reputation and harm our business. We have and post on 
our website our own privacy policy and cookie statement concerning the collection, use and disclosure of user personal data. 
 

Market access could be a limiting factor in our growth. The emergence of GPO’s that control a significant amount of product flow to hospitals and other acute care customers 
may limit our ability to grow in the acute care space. GPO’s issue contracts to manufacturers approximately every three years through a bidding process. We have been relatively 
unsuccessful in landing any significant GPO contracts. The process for being placed on contract with a GPO is rigorous and non-transparent. 

 
A significant percentage of our workforce is subject to a collective bargaining agreement. Approximately 40% of our workforce is subject to a collective bargaining 

agreement, which is subject to negotiation and renewal every three years. The current agreement is scheduled to expire in February 2028. Our inability to negotiate the renewal of this 
collective bargaining agreement, or any prolonged work stoppages, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. We 
cannot ensure that we will be successful in negotiating new collective bargaining agreements, that such negotiations will not result in significant increases in the cost of labor, or that a 
breakdown in such negotiations will not result in the disruption of our operations. In addition, employees who are not currently represented by labor unions may seek representation in 
the future. Although we have generally enjoyed good relations with both our union and non-union employees, if we are subject to labor actions, we may experience an adverse impact 
on our operating results. 
 

We rely on a combination of patents, trade secrets, and nondisclosure and non-competition agreements to protect our proprietary intellectual property, and we will continue 
to do so. While we intend to defend against any threats to our intellectual property, these patents, trade secrets, or other agreements may not adequately protect our intellectual property. 
Third parties could obtain patents that may require us to negotiate licenses to conduct our business, and the required licenses may not be available on reasonable terms or at all. We also 
rely on nondisclosure and non-competition agreements with certain employees, consultants, and other parties to protect, in part, trade secrets and other proprietary rights. We cannot be 
certain that these agreements will not be breached, that we will have adequate remedies for any breach, that others will not independently develop substantially equivalent proprietary 
information, or that third parties will not otherwise gain access to our trade secrets or proprietary knowledge. 
 

Certain of the products we sell are subject to market and technological obsolescence. We currently offer approximately 2,500 products or variations of products. If our 
customers discontinue purchasing a given product, we might have to record expense related to the diminution in value of inventories we have in stock, and depending on the magnitude, 
that expense could adversely impact our operating results. From time to time, our customers discontinue purchasing our products and may do so at any time. We may be unable to 
effectively develop and market products against the products of our competitors in a highly competitive industry. Our present or future products could be rendered obsolete or 
uneconomical by technological advances by our competitors. Competitive factors include price, customer service, technology, innovation, quality, reputation and reliability. Our 
competition may respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies, undertake more extensive marketing campaigns, have greater financial, marketing and other resources than 
us or be more successful in attracting potential customers, employees and strategic partners. Given these factors, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to continue our level of 
success in the industry. 
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We are dependent on a limited number of third-party suppliers for components and raw materials and the loss of any of these suppliers, or their inability to provide us with 
an adequate supply of materials that meet our quality and other requirements, could harm our business. We rely on third-party suppliers to provide components for our products, 
manufacture products that we do not manufacture ourselves and perform services that we do not provide ourselves, including package-delivery services. Because these suppliers are 
independent third parties with their own financial objectives, actions taken by them could have a materially adverse effect on our results of operations. The risks of relying on suppliers 
include our inability to enter into contracts with such suppliers on reasonable terms, breach, or termination by suppliers of their contractual obligations, inconsistent or inadequate 
quality control, relocation of supplier facilities, and disruption to suppliers’ business, including work stoppages, suppliers’ failure to comply with complex and changing regulations, 
and third-party financial failure. Any problems with our suppliers and associated disruptions to our supply chain could materially negatively impact our ability to supply the market, 
substantially decrease sales, lead to higher costs, or damage our reputation with our customers, and any longer-term disruptions could potentially result in the permanent loss of our 
customers, which could reduce our recurring revenues and long-term profitability. Disruption to our supply chain could occur as a result of any number of events, including, but not 
limited to, increases in wages that drive up prices; the imposition of regulations, trade protection measures, tariffs, duties, import/export restrictions, quotas or embargoes on key 
components; labor stoppages; transportation failures affecting the supply and shipment of materials and finished goods; the unavailability of raw materials; severe weather conditions; 
natural disasters; civil unrest, geopolitical developments, war or terrorism; computer viruses, physical or electronic breaches, or other information system disruptions or security 
breaches; and disruptions in utility and other services. 
  

We may be adversely affected by product liability claims, unfavorable court decisions or legal settlements. Our business exposes us to potential product liability risks that 
are inherent in the design, manufacture and marketing of medical devices. We maintain product liability insurance coverage which we deem to be adequate based on historical 
experience; however, there can be no assurance that coverage will be available for such risks in the future or that, if available, it would prove sufficient to cover potential claims or that 
the present amount of insurance can be maintained in force at an acceptable cost. In addition, we may incur significant legal expenses regardless of whether we are found to be liable. 
Furthermore, the assertion of such claims, regardless of their merit or eventual outcome, also may have a material adverse effect on our business reputation and results of operations. 
  

Intellectual property litigation and infringement claims could cause us to incur significant expenses or prevent us from selling certain of our products. The medical device 
industry is characterized by extensive intellectual property litigation and, from time to time, we are the subject of claims by third parties of potential infringement or misappropriation. 
Regardless of outcome, such claims are expensive to defend and divert the time and effort of management and operating personnel from other business issues. A successful claim or 
claims of patent or other intellectual property infringement against us could result in our payment of significant monetary damages and/or royalty payments or negatively impact our 
ability to sell current or future products in the affected category. 
 

Covenants in our loan documents may restrict our business and operations and if we cannot satisfy our covenants, our financial condition and results of operations could 
be adversely affected. On August 1, 2023, we entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with Gibraltar Business Capital, LLC (“Lender”), to provide asset-
based financing to be used for operating capital. Amounts available under the Loan Agreement are subject to a borrowing base calculation of up to a maximum availability of $7,500,000. 
The Loan Agreement contains certain affirmative, operating and financial covenants. These covenants could adversely affect our ability to operate our business, our liquidity or our 
results of operations. Our inability to comply with any of these covenants could result in a default, which could result in an increase to the applicable interest rate on all amounts 
borrowed, together with accrued interest and other fees, and could cause all amounts borrowed to become due and payable and could limit our ability to make future draws. If our 
indebtedness under the Loan Agreement were to be accelerated, we may not have sufficient cash available to repay the amounts due, and we may be forced to seek an amendment to 
the applicable loan terms or obtain alternative financing, which may not be available to us on acceptable terms, if at all. In addition, if we are unable to repay outstanding borrowings 
when due or upon an event of default, Lender would also have the right to proceed against the collateral granted to secure the indebtedness under the Loan Agreement. If Lender were 
to proceed against the collateral, any assets seized would no longer be available for use in our business, which would have a significant adverse effect on our business, financial condition 
and results of operations. 

 
We operate in a highly competitive market segment, face competition from large, well-established medical device companies with significant resources, and may not be able 

to compete effectively. The market in which we operate is highly competitive, subject to rapid technological change and affected by new products and market activities of industry 
participants. Our competitors include large and well-capitalized companies such as Enovis and Ossur. Several of our competitors enjoy competitive advantages over us, including: 

 
● more established relationships with customers, distribution networks and healthcare payers; 

  
● broader product offerings and intellectual property portfolios; 

  
● better name recognition, and more recognizable product trademarks; 

  
● greater resources for product research and development, clinical data, patent litigation, and launching, marketing, distributing and selling our products; and 

  
● greater experience in obtaining and maintaining FDA and other regulatory clearances or approvals for products and product enhancements. 

  
Our current competitors or new industry participants may at any time develop alternative treatments, products or procedures that compete directly or indirectly with our 

products, including ones that may be superior to our products. Additionally, our competitors have and may in the future consolidate or acquire one or more of our customers or our 
customers may and have acquire(d) one of our competitors. For these reasons, we may not be able to compete successfully against our existing or future competitors. The impacts from 
the actions of our competitors could lead us to further modify our strategy, lower our prices or increase our sales commissions, and could have a significant adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations. 
 

We are dependent on our senior management team, sales and marketing team, engineering team and other qualified personnel, and the loss of any of them could harm our 
business. Our continued success depends in part upon the continued availability and contributions of our senior management, sales and marketing team, engineering team and other 
qualified personnel. We compete for personnel with other companies and organizations, many of which have greater name recognition and resources than we do. Changes to our senior 
management team, sales and marketing team and engineering team and/or our inability to attract or retain other qualified personnel could have a significant adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations. 
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Failures in, material damage to, or interruptions in our information technology systems, software or websites, including as a result of cyber-attacks, and difficulties in 

updating our existing software or developing or implementing new software, could have a material adverse effect on our business or results of operations. We depend increasingly on 
our information technology systems in the conduct of our business. For example, we own, license or otherwise contract for sophisticated technology and systems to do business online 
with customers, including for order entry and fulfillment, processing and payment, product shipping and product returns. We also maintain internal and external communications, 
product inventory, supply, production and enterprise management, and personnel information on information systems. Our information systems are subject to damage or interruption 
from power outages, computer and telecommunications failures, computer viruses, security breaches and natural and man-made disasters. In particular, from time to time we and third 
parties who provide services for us experience cyber-attacks, attempted breaches of our or their information technology systems and networks or similar events, which could result in 
a loss of sensitive business or customer information, systems interruption or the disruption of our operations. The techniques used to obtain unauthorized access, disable or degrade 
service or sabotage systems change frequently and may be difficult to detect for long periods of time, and accordingly we may be unable to anticipate and prevent all data security 
incidents. Like many businesses, our systems come under frequent attack from third parties. We are required to expend capital and other resources to protect against such cyber-attacks 
and potential security breaches or to alleviate problems caused by such potential breaches or attacks. Despite the constant monitoring of our technology systems and hiring of specialized 
third parties to identify and address any vulnerabilities through implementation of multi-tiered network security measures, it is possible that computer programmers and hackers, or 
even internal users, may be able to penetrate, create systems disruptions or cause shutdowns of our network security or that of third-party companies with which we have contracted. 
As a result, we could experience significant disruptions of our operations and incur significant expenses addressing problems created by these breaches. Such unauthorized access could 
disrupt our business and could result in a loss of revenue or assets and any compromise of customer information could subject us to customer or government litigation and harm our 
reputation, which could adversely affect our business and growth. Although we maintain cyber liability insurance that provides liability and insurance coverages, subject to limitations 
and conditions of the policies, our insurance may not be sufficient to protect against all losses or costs related to any future breaches of our systems. 
 
  Risks Related to Our Common Stock 
  

A decline in the price of our common stock could affect our ability to raise working capital and adversely impact our operations. Our operating results, including components 
of operating results such as gross margin and cost of product sales, may fluctuate from time to time, and such fluctuations could adversely affect our stock price. Our operating results 
have fluctuated in the past and can be expected to fluctuate from time to time in the future. The market price for our common stock may also be affected by our ability to meet or exceed 
expectations of analysts or investors. Any failure to meet these expectations, even if minor, could materially adversely affect the market price of our common stock. A prolonged decline 
in the price of our common stock for any reason could result in a reduction in our ability to raise capital. 
  

Our stock price has been volatile and we expect that it will continue to be volatile. For example, during the year ended June 30, 2025, the selling price of our common stock 
ranged from a high of $0.29 to a low of $0.06. The volatility of our stock price can be due to many factors, including: 
  
● quarterly variations in our operating results; 
  
● changes in the market’s expectations about our operating results; 
  
● failure of our operating results to meet the expectation of securities analysts or investors in a particular period; 
  
● changes in financial estimates and recommendations by securities analysts concerning us or the healthcare industry in general; 
  
● strategic decisions by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions, divestments, spin-offs, joint ventures, strategic investments or changes in business strategy; 
  
● operating and stock price performance of other companies that investors deem comparable to us; 
  
● news reports relating to trends in our markets; 
  
● changes in laws and regulations affecting our business; 
  
● material announcements by us or our competitors; 
  
● material announcements by the manufacturers and suppliers we use; 
  
● sales of substantial amounts of our common stock by our directors, executive officers or significant shareholders or the perception that such sales could occur; and 
  
● general economic and political conditions such as trade wars and tariffs, recession, and acts of war or terrorism. 
 

Investors in our securities may experience substantial dilution upon the conversion of preferred stock to common, exercise of stock options and warrants, future issuances 
of stock, grants of restricted stock and the issuance of stock in connection with acquisitions of other companies. Our articles of incorporation authorize the issuance of up to 100,000,000 
shares of common stock and 50,000,000 shares of preferred stock. Our Board of Directors (“Board of Directors” or “Board”) has the authority to issue additional shares of common 
and preferred stock up to the authorized capital stated in the articles of incorporation. The Board may choose to issue some or all of such shares of common or preferred stock to acquire 
one or more businesses or to provide additional financing in the future. As of June 30, 2025, we had outstanding a total of 1,992,000 shares of Series A 8% Convertible Preferred Stock 
(the “Series A Preferred”), and 1,359,000 shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series B Preferred”). The Series A Preferred and Series B Preferred shares are convertible 
into a total of 670,200 shares of common stock. The conversion of these outstanding shares of preferred stock would result in substantial dilution to our common shareholders. In 
addition, from time to time, we have issued and we expect we will continue to issue stock options or restricted stock grants or similar awards to employees, officers, and directors 
pursuant to our equity incentive award plans. Investors in our equity securities may expect to experience dilution as these awards vest and are exercised by their holders and as the 
restrictions lapse on the restricted stock grants. We also may issue stock or stock purchase warrants for the purpose of raising capital to fund our growth initiatives, in connection with 
acquisitions of other companies, or in connection with the settlement of obligations or indebtedness, which would result in further dilution of existing shareholders. The issuance of any 
such shares of common or preferred stock may result in a reduction of the book value or market price of the outstanding shares of our common stock. If we do issue any such additional 
shares of common stock or securities convertible into or exercisable for the purchase of common stock, such issuance also will cause a reduction in the proportionate ownership and 
voting power of all other shareholders and may result in a change in control of the Company. 
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The stock markets (including the OTC Venture Market, on which our common stock is traded) have experienced significant price and volume fluctuations. As a result, the 

market price of our common stock could be similarly volatile, and investors in our common stock may experience a decrease in the value of their shares, including decreases unrelated 
to our financial condition, operating performance or prospects. The market price of our common stock could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to a number of factors, including 
strategic decisions by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions, divestments, spin-offs, joint ventures, strategic investments or changes in business strategy. 
  

We are able to issue shares of preferred stock with greater rights and preferences than our common stock. Our Board of Directors is authorized to issue one or more series 
of preferred stock from time to time without any action on the part of our shareholders. The Board also has the power, without shareholder approval, to set the terms of any such series 
of preferred stock that may be issued, including voting rights, dividend rights and preferences over our common stock with respect to dividends and other terms. If we issue additional 
preferred stock in the future that has a preference over our common stock with respect to the payment of dividends or other terms, or if we issue additional preferred stock with voting 
rights that dilute the voting power of our common stock, the rights of holders of our common stock or the market price of our common stock would be adversely affected. 
  

The holders of the Series A and Series B Preferred are entitled to receive dividends on the Series A and Series B Preferred they hold and depending on whether these 
dividends are paid in cash or stock, the payment of such dividends will either decrease cash that is available to us to invest in our business or dilute the holdings of other shareholders. 
Our agreements with the holders of the Series A and Series B Preferred provide that they will receive quarterly dividends at 8%, subject to adjustment as provided in the applicable 
declarations of the rights and preferences of these series of preferred stock. The Company has historically, and presently intends to continue, paying the quarterly preferred dividends 
in shares of common stock, which has resulted in significant dilution to common shareholders to date and that at the current market price, such dividends will result in even more 
substantial dilution to the common shareholders. In fiscal year 2025, we issued approximately 3,500,000 shares for dividend payments with approximately 5,800,000 of shares 
outstanding to begin the year. 
  

The concentration or potential concentration of equity ownership by Prettybrook Partners, LLC and its affiliates may limit your ability to influence corporate matters. As 
of June 30, 2025, Prettybrook Partners, LLC and its managing directors and affiliates (collectively “Prettybrook”), owned approximately 4,221,000 shares of common stock, 260,000 
shares of Series A Preferred, and 40,000  shares of Series B Preferred. These securities represent approximately 31% of the voting power of our issued and outstanding equity securities. 
Under the terms of the Series A Preferred, by agreement with us and the remaining holders of the Series A Preferred, Prettybrook has the right to appoint up to three members of our 
Board of Directors (the “Preferred Directors”) and has appointed a non-voting observer to the Board. This concentrated control could limit a shareholder’s ability to influence corporate 
matters and, as a result, we may take actions that some of our shareholders do not view as beneficial. In addition, such concentrated control could discourage others from initiating 
changes of control. In such cases, the perception of our prospects in the market and the market price of our common stock may be adversely affected. 
  

Sales of a large number of our securities, or the perception that such sales might occur, could depress the market price of our common stock. A substantial number of shares 
of our equity securities are eligible for immediate resale in the public market. Any sales of substantial amounts of our securities in the public market, or the perception that such sales 
might occur, could depress the market price of our common stock. 
  

Our ability to issue preferred stock could delay or prevent takeover attempts. As of June 30, 2025, we had 3,351,000 shares of convertible preferred stock outstanding and 
our Board of Directors has the authority to cause us to issue, without any further vote or action by the shareholders, up to approximately 46,649,000 additional shares of preferred stock, 
no par value per share, in one or more series, and to designate the number of shares constituting any series, and to fix the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions thereof, including 
dividend rights, voting rights, rights and terms of redemption, redemption price or prices and liquidation preferences of such series of preferred stock. In the event of issuance, the 
preferred stock could be used as a method of discouraging, delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control without further action by the shareholders, even where shareholders 
might be offered a premium for their shares. Although we have no present intention to issue any shares of our preferred stock, we may do so in the future under appropriate circumstances. 
 

As of the open of business on July 9, 2024, our common stock ceased trading on the NASDAQ Capital Market and began trading on the OTCQB Venture Market (the 
“OTCQB”). This change could cause trading of our common stock could be more difficult because smaller quantities of shares would likely be bought and sold, transactions could be 
delayed, and we could face significant material adverse consequences, including: a limited availability of market quotations for our securities; reduced liquidity with respect to our 
securities; a determination that our shares are a “penny stock,” which will require brokers trading in our securities to adhere to more stringent rules, possibly resulting in a reduced level 
of trading activity in the secondary trading market for our securities; a reduced amount of news and analyst coverage for our Company; and a decreased ability to issue additional 
securities or obtain additional financing in the future. These factors could result in lower prices and larger spreads in the bid and ask prices for our common stock and would substantially 
impair our ability to raise additional funds and could result in a loss of institutional investor interest and fewer development opportunities for us. 
 

In addition to the foregoing, the application of the “penny stock” rules could adversely affect the market price of our common stock and increase the transaction costs to 
sell those shares. The SEC has adopted regulations which generally define a “penny stock” as an equity security that has a market price of less than $5.00 per share, subject to specific 
exemptions. The SEC’s penny stock rules require a broker-dealer, before a transaction in a penny stock not otherwise exempt from the rules, to deliver a standardized risk disclosure 
document that provides information about penny stocks and the risks in the penny stock market. The broker-dealer must also provide the customer with current bid and offer quotations 
for the penny stock, the compensation of the broker-dealer and the salesperson in the transaction, and monthly account statements showing the market value of each penny stock held 
in the customer’s account. In addition, the penny stock rules generally require that before a transaction in a penny stock occurs, the broker-dealer must make a special written 
determination that the penny stock is a suitable investment for the purchaser and receive the purchaser’s agreement to the transaction. If applicable in the future, these rules may restrict 
the ability of brokers-dealers to sell our common stock and may affect the ability of investors to sell their shares, until our common stock no longer is considered a penny stock. 

 
We may pursue certain strategies that result in the deregistration of our common stock under the Exchange Act, which could negatively affect the liquidity and trading prices 

of our common stock and would result in less disclosure about the Company. We are considering various strategies to reduce expenses and provide greater flexibility to management 
to focus more of its time and the Company’s resources on strengthening our core business, exploring strategic transactions, and pursuing our long-term objectives. Given the cost and 
resource demands of being a public company, such strategies include certain transactions that may result in the Company “going dark,” or discontinuing our obligation to make periodic 
filings with the SEC, by deregistering our securities with the SEC.  While no decision has been made, should we ultimately pursue such a course, there would be a substantial decrease 
in disclosure by us of our operations and prospects, and a potential decrease in the liquidity in our common stock even though stockholders may still continue to trade our common 
stock on an over-the-counter market. As a result of going dark, investors may find it more difficult to dispose of or obtain accurate quotations as to the market value of our common 
stock, and the ability of our stockholders to sell our common stock in the secondary market may be materially limited.  Further, the market’s interpretation of our motivation for going 
dark could vary from cost savings, to negative changes in our prospects, to serving insider interests, all of which may affect the overall price and liquidity of our common stock. 

 
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments  
  

Not applicable. 
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Item 1C. Cybersecurity  
 

 Failures in, material damage to, or interruptions in our information technology systems, including as a result of cyber-attacks, and difficulties in updating our existing 
software or developing or implementing new software, could have a material adverse effect on our business or results of operations. We depend increasingly on our information 
technology systems in the conduct of our business. For example, we own, license or otherwise contract for technology and systems to do business with customers, including for order 
entry and fulfillment, processing and payment, product shipping and product returns. We also maintain internal and external communications, product inventory, supply, production 
and enterprise management, and personnel information on information systems. Our information systems are subject to damage or interruption from power outages, computer and 
telecommunications failures, computer viruses, security breaches and natural and man-made disasters. In particular, from time to time we and third parties who provide services for us 
experience cyber-attacks, attempted breaches of our or their information technology systems and networks or similar events, which could result in a loss of sensitive business or 
customer information, systems interruption or the disruption of our operations. The techniques used to obtain unauthorized access, disable or degrade service or sabotage systems 
change frequently and may be difficult to detect for long periods of time, and accordingly we may be unable to anticipate and prevent all data security incidents. Like many businesses, 
our systems come under frequent attack from third parties. We are required to expend capital and other resources to protect against such cyber-attacks and potential security breaches 
or to alleviate problems caused by such potential breaches or attacks. Despite the constant monitoring of our technology systems and hiring of specialized third parties to identify and 
address any vulnerabilities through implementation of network security measures, it is possible that computer programmers and hackers, or even internal users, may be able to penetrate, 
create systems disruptions or cause shutdowns of our network security or that of third-party companies with which we have contracted. As a result, we could experience significant 
disruptions of our operations and incur significant expenses addressing problems created by these breaches. Such unauthorized access could disrupt our business and could result in a 
loss of revenue or assets and any compromise of customer information could subject us to customer or government litigation and harm our reputation, which could adversely affect our 
business and growth.  

 
Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy 

 
We have developed and implemented a cybersecurity risk management program intended to protect the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of our critical systems and 

information. Our cybersecurity risk management program utilizes the CIS Critical Security Controls framework, as a guide to help identify, assess, and manage cybersecurity risks 
relevant to our business. This does not imply that we meet any particular technical standards, specifications, or requirements.  

 
Our cybersecurity risk management program includes the following key elements, among others:  
 

• risk assessments designed to help identify material cybersecurity risks to our critical systems and information;  
• a team comprised of IT personnel responsible for directing (1) our cybersecurity risk assessment processes, (2) our security processes, and (3) our response to 

cybersecurity incidents;  
• the periodic use of external cybersecurity service providers, where appropriate, to assess, test or otherwise assist with aspects of our security processes;  
• cybersecurity awareness training; and  
• a cybersecurity incident response plan to respond to cybersecurity incidents.  

 
We have not identified risks from known cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any prior cybersecurity incidents, that have materially affected us, including our 

operations, business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition. We face certain ongoing risks from cybersecurity threats that, if realized, are reasonably likely to materially 
affect us, including our operations, business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition.  

 
Cybersecurity Governance  

 
Our Board considers cybersecurity risk as critical to the enterprise and delegates the cybersecurity risk oversight function to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee 

oversees management’s design, implementation and enforcement of our cybersecurity risk management program. The Audit Committee receives reports from our Chief Information 
Officer. Our Chief Information Officer, who works closely with and supervises our IT team, has overall responsibility for assessing and managing any material risks from cybersecurity 
threats.  

 
Item 2. Properties 
  

We lease a 57,000 square-foot manufacturing, warehouse, and office facility in Eagan, Minnesota, which houses our corporate headquarters and principal executive offices. 
Lease payments are $40,000 per month. The original term of the lease is for thirty nine months, commencing in April 2025. The lease is subject to 4% increases each subsequent year. 
The lease also includes a renewal option for an additional 36 months at Market Rate. We believe that the terms of the agreement are commercially reasonable for the market in which 
the facility is located. 
 

We lease a 60,000 square-foot manufacturing and office facility in Northvale, New Jersey to house our Hausmann Enterprises, LLC operations. The initial two-year term of 
this lease commenced in April 2017, with monthly lease payments of $30,000 for the first year and 2% increases in each subsequent year. The lease provides for two options to extend 
the term of the lease for two years per extension term, subject to annual 2% per year increases in base rent, and a third extension option at the end of the second option term for an 
additional five years at fair market value. We have exercised options to extend the term of the lease through March 2028, with monthly lease payments of $60,000 for the first year, 2% 
increases each subsequent year, and monthly solar payments that total approximately $9,000 per year starting July 2023. The landlord is a stockholder and the previous owner of the 
assets and operations acquired in 2017. The lease was negotiated at arms’ length as part of the Hausmann acquisition. We believe that the terms of the agreement are commercially 
reasonable for the market in which the facility is located. 

 
We lease a 36,000 square-foot manufacturing, warehouse, and office facility in Cottonwood Heights, Utah. We sold the building in August 2014, and now lease it back from 

the purchaser. The monthly lease payment is approximately $32,000 and the lease terminates in 2029. We account for the lease-back agreement as a finance lease which results in 
depreciation and implied interest expense each period, offset by an amortized gain on the sale of the property. Overall the net monthly occupancy cost of this lease is $40,000. 

 
We believe the facilities described above are adequate for our current needs and that they will accommodate our presently expected growth and operating needs. As our 

business continues to grow, additional facilities or the expansion of existing facilities may be required. 
 
We also own computer equipment, and equipment used in the manufacture and assembly of our products. The nature of this equipment is not specialized and replacements 

may be readily obtained from any of a number of suppliers.  
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings 
  

There are no pending legal proceedings of a material nature to which we are a party or to which any of our property is the subject. 
  
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures 
  

Not applicable. 
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PART II 
  
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 
  
Market Information 
  

As discussed previously, since the open of business on July 9, 2024 our common stock has been quoted on the OTCQB (symbol: DYNT). Previous to such time, our common 
stock was traded on the NASDAQ Capital Market. The following table shows the range of high and low sales prices for our common stock as quoted on the OTCQB and NASDAQ 
systems for the quarterly periods indicated: 

  
Fiscal Year Ended June 30,   2025     2024   
    High     Low     High     Low   
1st Quarter (July-September)   $ 0.29     $ 0.11     $ 0.91     $ 0.69   
2nd Quarter (October-December)   $ 0.20     $ 0.08     $ 0.78     $ 0.47   
3rd Quarter (January-March)   $ 0.19     $ 0.10     $ 0.73     $ 0.42   
4th Quarter (April-June)   $ 0.17     $ 0.06     $ 0.65     $ 0.25   

  
Outstanding Common Shares and Number of Shareholders 
  

As of October 6, 2025, we had approximately 16,001,331 shares of common stock issued and outstanding and approximately 387 shareholders of record, not including 
shareholders whose shares are held in “nominee” or “street” name by a bank, broker or other holder of record. 
  
Dividends 
   

We have never paid cash dividends on our common stock. Our anticipated capital requirements are such that we intend to follow a policy of retaining earnings, if any, in 
order to finance the development of the business. 
 

As of October 6, 2025, we had outstanding 1,992,000 shares of Series A Preferred and 1,359,000 shares of Series B Preferred. These series of preferred stock have rights 
and preferences that rank senior to or in certain circumstances, on par with, our common stock. The declarations of the rights and preferences of these series of preferred stock contain 
covenants that prohibit us from declaring and distributing dividends on our common stock without first making all distributions that are due to any senior securities. Dividends payable 
on the Series A and the Series B Preferred accrue at the rate of 8% per year and are payable quarterly. We may, at our option under certain circumstances, make distributions of these 
dividends in cash or in shares of common stock. When possible, we pay dividends on the Series A and Series B Preferred in shares of common stock. The formula for paying these 
dividends in common stock can change the effective yield on the dividend to more or less than 8% depending on the market price of the common stock at the time of issuance. 
 
Sales of Equity Securities 
  

We did not sell any shares of common stock during the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024. 
  
Purchases of Equity Securities 
  

We did not purchase any shares of common stock during the year ended June 30, 2025 or in the prior 13 fiscal years. 
 
Item 6. [Reserved] 
  
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 
  

 The following discussion contains assumptions, estimates and other forward-looking statements that involve a number of risks and uncertainties, including those discussed 
under the heading “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements,” on page 1 of this Form 10-K, “Risk Factors” (Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10-K) and elsewhere in this 
Form 10-K. These risks could cause our actual results to differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements. 
  

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and 
related Notes thereto, which are included in Part II, Item 8 of this report. In the following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, 
we have rounded many numbers to the nearest one thousand dollars. These numbers should be read as approximate. 
  
Overview 
 

We design, manufacture, and sell a broad range of restorative products for clinical use in physical therapy, rehabilitation, orthopedics, pain management, and athletic training. 
Through our distribution channels, we market and sell to orthopedists, physical therapists, chiropractors, athletic trainers, sports medicine practitioners, clinics, and hospitals. 
  
Results of Operations 
  
Fiscal Year 2025 Compared to Fiscal Year 2024 
  
Net Sales 
  

Net sales in fiscal year 2025 decreased $5,141,000 or 15.8%, to $27,393,000, compared to net sales of $32,534,000 in fiscal year 2024. The year-over-year decrease is primarily 
attributable to a reduction in overall volume for OEM customers and a general reduction in demand for the orthopedic soft bracing product category. 
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Gross Profit 
  

Gross profit for the year ended June 30, 2025 decreased $1,624,000 or 21.3%, to $6,011,000 or 21.9% of net sales. By comparison, gross profit for the year ended June 30, 
2024 was $7,635,000, or 23.5% of net sales. The decrease in gross profit as a percentage of net sales was driven by the reduction in net sales we previously discussed. 

 
Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses 
  

Selling, general, and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses decreased $1,444,000, or 14.6%, to $8,464,000 for the year ended June 30, 2025, compared to $9,908,000 for the 
year ended June 30, 2024. The decrease in SG&A was driven primarily by a reduction in salaries and benefits and a reduction in other professional expenses.  
  
Interest Expense, net 
  

Interest expense, net decreased approximately $8,000, or 1.9%, to $410,000 for the year ended June 30, 2025, compared to $418,000 for the year ended June 30, 2024. The 
decrease in interest expense is primarily due to a lower average outstanding balance on our line of credit during the current period compared to the prior year.  
   
Intangible Assets Impairment 
 
 During the annual assessment period, we recorded an impairment charge of $950,000 related to intangible assets for the year ended June 30, 2025 as the carrying value of 
certain assets was not recoverable. No impairment charge was recorded for the year ended June 30, 2024. 

 
Goodwill Impairment 
 
 During the annual assessment period, we determined the carrying value of  the Company’s subsidiaries exceeded its estimated fair value. Accordingly, a goodwill impairment 
charge of $7,117,000 was recorded for the year ended June 30, 2025. No impairment charge was recorded for the year ended June 30, 2024. 
 
Other Income (Expense), net 
  

Other income, net increased approximately $47,000 to $41,000 for the year ended June 30, 2025, compared to other expense, net of $6,000 for the year ended June 30, 2024. 
 
Loss Before Income Taxes 
  

Pre-tax loss for the year ended June 30, 2025 was $10,889,000 compared to a loss of $2,698,000 for the year ended June 30, 2024. The change was primarily attributable to 
a decrease of $1,624,000 in gross profit, offset by a decrease of $1,444,000 in SG&A, an increase of $47,000 in other income (expense), net, a decrease in interest expense, net of 
$8,000, and the effects of $950,000 in intangible impairment charges and $7,117,000 in goodwill impairment charges and.  
  
Net Loss 
  

Net loss for the year ended June 30, 2025 was $10,902,000 compared to a net loss of $2,698,000 for the year ended June 30, 2024. The reasons for the change in net loss are 
the same as those given under the headings Loss Before Income Taxes in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”). 
  
Net Loss Attributable to Common Stockholders 
  

Net loss attributable to common stockholders was $11,604,000 ($1.43 per share) for the year ended June 30, 2025, compared to a net loss of $3,429,000 ($1.00 per share) 
for the year ended June 30, 2024. The change for the year is due primarily to a $8,175,000 increase in net loss, partially offset by a $29,000 increase in deemed dividends on convertible 
preferred stock and accretion of discounts. 

 
Liquidity, Going Concern and Capital Resources 
  

We have historically financed operations through cash from operating activities, available cash reserves, draws against the line of credit, and proceeds from the sale of our 
equity securities. As of June 30, 2025, we had $326,000 in cash and cash equivalents, compared to $484,000 as of June 30, 2024. 
  

Working capital was $718,000 as of June 30, 2025, compared to working capital of $2,853,000 as of June 30, 2024. The current ratio was 1.1 to 1 as of June 30, 2025 and 
1.4 to 1 as of June 30, 2024. Current assets were 58.0% of total assets as of June 30, 2025, and 40.7% of total assets as of June 30, 2024. The increase of 17.3% is largely attributable 
to non-cash intangible asset and goodwill impairment charges recorded as of June 30, 2025. These factors raised substantial doubt regarding the Company's ability to continue as a 
going concern as of June 30, 2025. 

 
The Company has incurred significant recurring operating losses primarily driven by a continuous decline in revenues, recurring negative cash flows, and continued reduction 

in liquidity. The Company reported operating losses of $2,453,000 and $2,273,000 for the years ended June 30, 2025 and June 30, 2024, respectively. These events have raised 
substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. The Company is in the process of creating a comprehensive plan to address these challenges to improve 
performance, including cost reduction initiatives, streamlining operational processes, pursuing new revenue streams through product diversification, and transitioning production of the 
majority of our therapeutic modalities from a contract manufacturer to internal operations. This shift to in-house production aims to reduce costs by eliminating third-party markups, 
enhance quality control with direct oversight of manufacturing processes, and improve supply chain reliability to mitigate risks of disruptions. The Company is also evaluating the 
current inventory position and working to reduce the amount of excess inventory exposure by promoting discounted prices to convert the excess inventory to cash. The Company will 
continue to look to add to its sales efforts to further improve revenue, consider additional options to improve operating efficiency, and enhance liquidity. The Company believes that if 
it successfully implements the foregoing strategic actions, it has a chance to mitigate the factors giving rise to substantial doubt; however, there is no guarantee that it will successfully 
implement these strategic actions. As a result, substantial doubt remains regarding the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
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 In addition to the foregoing, recent tariff changes imposed by the U.S. and China have created increased risks and uncertainties surrounding the Company's future results 
of operations. The impact of tariffs in the first quarter of 2025 was not material. However, should universal tariffs be implemented as initially announced in April 2025, the Company 
anticipates a significant adverse impact on its future costs of revenue, which will impact its results of operations. Particularly, the U.S. import tariffs and the reciprocal measures by 
China, are expected to increase the Company's cost of goods sold. The Company anticipates that some of its suppliers will incur incremental tariff-related costs, which may be passed 
on to the Company. The extent and duration of the tariffs and the resulting impact on general economic conditions and on the business are uncertain and are expected to be impacted 
by various factors, such as negotiations between the U.S. and affected countries, the responses of other countries or regions, exemptions or exclusions that already exist or may be 
granted, availability and cost of alternative sources of the products and materials, and the Company's ability to offset the effects of any tariffs that might be imposed.  In response to 
these risks and uncertainties, the Company has taken affirmative steps to stock adequate inventory of certain key products and components to service immediate orders and is proactively 
working with its suppliers to mitigate potential tariff-related costs. 
 

Moreover, the continuing effects of uncertainties in the broader economic environment on the global supply chain, higher personnel costs, and changes to customer or 
product mix, could have an adverse effect on our liquidity and cash and we continue to evaluate and take action, as necessary, to preserve adequate liquidity and ensure that our business 
can continue to operate during these uncertain times. Additionally, we operate in a rapidly evolving and unpredictable business environment that may change the timing or amount of 
expected future cash receipts and expenditures. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that we will not be required to raise additional funds through the sale of assets, equity or debt 
securities or from credit facilities. Additional capital, if needed, may not be available on satisfactory terms, or at all. 
 
Intangible Assets and Goodwill Impairment 
 

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025, we evaluated our long-term assets for impairment due to indicators such as declining gross margins, sales, and negative enterprise-
wide EBITDA, along with operational challenges. The impairment pertains to long-lived assets, including goodwill and intangible assets, assessed as groups with independent cash 
flows. We applied a multi-step process: identifying triggers, testing recoverability with undiscounted cash flows, and measuring fair value using discounted cash flows, corroborated 
by other methods. Shared costs were reallocated using an activity-based methodology to reflect stand-alone operations. 

 
This resulted in impairment charges of approximately $950,000 related to intangible assets and $7,117,000 for goodwill where fair values fell below carrying values. The 

charge includes full write-offs of goodwill and partial write-offs of certain intangible assets with potential impacts on other assets due to negative adjusted EBITDA in certain areas, 
extended or non-recoverable periods, and low revenue intermingling. Changes in these accounting estimates involved updated forecasts assuming modest growth without major 
improvements and cost reallocations that reduced projected cash flows and affected fair values using market-based discount rates. These charges affected our results of operations, 
increasing net losses and reducing asset values. We plan to continue to monitor operations and consider strategies to enhance efficiency. 
 
Line of Credit 
 

On August 1, 2023, the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the "Loan Agreement") with Gibraltar Business Capital, LLC ("Lender"), to provide asset-
based financing to the Company to be used for operating capital. Amounts available under the Loan Agreement (the "Revolving Loans") are subject to a borrowing base calculation of 
up to a maximum availability of $7,500,000 (the "Revolving Loan Commitment") and bear interest at SOFR plus 5.00%. The Company paid a closing fee of 1.00% of the Revolving 
Loan Commitment and the line is subject to a monthly unused line fee in an annualized amount equal to 0.50% on the difference between the Revolving Loan Commitment and the 
average outstanding principal balance of the Revolving Loans for such month. The maturity date is three years from the date of the promissory note evidencing the Revolving Loans, 
subject to extension in accordance with the terms of the Loan Agreement. 

 
The Loan Agreement provides for revolving credit borrowings by the Company in an amount up to the lesser of the Revolving Loan Commitment and a borrowing base 

amount equal to the sum of stated percentages of eligible accounts receivable and inventory, less reserves, computed on a weekly basis. 
 
The obligations of the Company under the Loan Agreement are secured by a first-priority security interest in substantially all of the assets of the Company (including, 

without limitation, accounts receivable, equipment, inventory and other goods, intellectual property, contract rights and other general intangibles, cash, deposit accounts, equity interests 
in subsidiaries and joint ventures, investment property, documents and instruments, and proceeds of the foregoing). 

 
The Loan Agreement contains affirmative and negative covenants, including covenants that restrict the ability of the Company and its subsidiaries to, among other things, 

incur or guarantee indebtedness, incur liens, dispose of assets, engage in mergers and consolidations, make acquisitions or other investments, make changes in the nature of its business, 
and engage in transactions with affiliates. The Loan Agreement also contains financial covenants applicable to the Company and its subsidiaries, including a minimum fixed charge 
coverage ratio of 1.0 to 1.0 if excess availability is less than $1,000,000 of the borrowing base.  
 
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash 
  

Our cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash position decreased $157,000 to $377,000 as of June 30, 2025, compared to $534,000 as of June 30, 2024. Primary uses of 
cash in the year ended June 30, 2024 included $303,000 of principal payments on finance lease liabilities, $125,000 of repayments on the line of credit, and $30,000 of purchases of 
property and equipment. Primary sources of cash included $301,000 of net cash provided by operations.   
 
Trade Accounts Receivable, net 
  

Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance for credit losses, decreased approximately $644,000, or 18.7%, to $2,801,000 as of June 30, 2025, from $3,445,000 as of June 
30, 2024. The decrease was driven primarily by a reduction in overall revenue and differences in the timing of collections around the end date of each respective quarter. Trade accounts 
receivable represents amounts due from our customers including dealers and distributors that purchase our products for redistribution, medical practitioners, clinics, hospitals, colleges, 
universities, and sports teams. We believe that our estimate of the allowance for credit losses is adequate based on our historical experience and relationships with our customers. 
Accounts receivable are generally collected within approximately 40 days of invoicing. 

 
Inventories, net 
  

Inventories, net of reserves, decreased $520,000 or 9.3%, to $5,074,000 as of June 30, 2025, compared to $5,594,000 as of June 30, 2024. The decrease was in line with 
sales trends as safety stock levels for key items are adjusted to sales trends. We believe that our estimate of the allowance for inventory obsolescence is adequate based on our analysis 
of inventory, sales trends, and historical experience.  
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Accounts Payable 
  

Accounts payable increased approximately $692,000 or 25.5%, to $3,404,000 as of June 30, 2025, from $2,712,000 as of June 30, 2024. The increase was driven primarily 
by timing of payments. 
 
Line of Credit  
 

The outstanding balance of the line of credit was $1,997,000 as of June 30, 2025, compared to $2,122,000 as of June 30, 2024. 
 
Finance Lease Liability 
   

Finance lease liability as of June 30, 2025 and 2024 totaled approximately $1,429,000 and $1,732,000, respectively. Our finance lease obligations consist primarily of our 
Utah building lease. In conjunction with the sale and leaseback of our Utah building in August 2014, we entered into a 15-year lease, classified as a finance lease, originally valued at 
$3,800,000. The building lease asset is amortized on a straight-line basis over 15 years at approximately $252,000 per year. Total accumulated amortization related to the leased building 
is approximately $2,750,000 and $2,498,000 at June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. The sale generated a profit of $2,300,000, which is being recognized straight-line over the life of 
the lease at approximately $150,000 per year as an offset to amortization expense. The balance of the deferred gain is $627,000 and $777,000 as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. 
Lease payments, currently approximately $33,000, are payable monthly and increase annually by approximately 2% per year over the life of the lease. Imputed interest for the years 
ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 was approximately $86,000 and $102,000, respectively. In addition to the Utah building, we lease certain equipment pursuant to arrangements which 
have been determined to be finance leases. As of June 30, 2025, future minimum gross lease payments required under the finance leases were as follows: 

 
2026      $                        420,188  
2027                                428,200  
2028                                428,080  
2029                                424,800  
2030                                  71,032  
Total    $                     1,772,300      

 
Operating Lease Liability 
  

Operating lease liability as of June 30, 2025 and 2024 totaled approximately $3,205,000 and $2,834,000, respectively. Our operating lease liability consists primarily of 
building leases for office, manufacturing, and warehouse space.  
 
 
 Inflation 
  

Cost inflation including increases in ocean container rates, raw material prices, labor rates, and domestic transportation costs have impacted profitability. Continued 
imbalances between supply and demand for these resources may continue to exert upward pressure on costs. Our ability to recover these costs increased through price increases may 
continue to lag the cost increases, resulting in downward pressure on margins. 
 
Stock Repurchase Plan 
  

In 2011, our Board of Directors adopted a stock repurchase plan authorizing repurchases of shares in the open market, through block trades or otherwise. Decisions to 
repurchase shares under this plan are based upon market conditions, the level of our cash balances, general business opportunities, and other factors. The Board may periodically 
approve amounts for share repurchases under the plan. As of June 30, 2025, approximately $449,000 remained available under this authorization for purchases under the plan. No 
purchases have been made under this plan since 2011. 
 
Critical Accounting Policies 
  

This MD&A is based upon our Consolidated Financial Statements (see Part II, Item 8 below), which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in (“US GAAP”). The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue 
and expenses as well as the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We regularly review our estimates and assumptions. The SEC has requested that all registrants address their 
most critical accounting policies. The SEC has indicated that a “critical accounting policy” is one which is both important to the representation of the registrant’s financial condition 
and results and requires management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently 
uncertain. We base our estimates on past experience and on various other assumptions our management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form 
the basis for making judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results will differ, and may differ materially from 
these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. Additionally, changes in accounting estimates could occur in the future from period to period. Our management has discussed 
the development and selection of our most critical financial estimates with the audit committee of our Board of Directors. The following paragraphs identify our most critical accounting 
policies: 

 
Inventories 
  

The nature of our business requires that we maintain sufficient inventory on hand at all times to meet the requirements of our customers. We record finished goods inventory 
at the lower of standard cost, which approximates actual cost (first-in, first-out) or market. Raw materials are recorded at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market. Inventory 
valuation reserves are maintained for the estimated impairment of the inventory. Impairment may be a result of slow-moving or excess inventory, product obsolescence or changes in 
the valuation of the inventory. In determining the adequacy of reserves, we analyze the following, among other things: 
 

• Current inventory quantities on hand;  
 

• Product acceptance in the marketplace; 
 

• Customer demand; 
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• Historical sales; 
 

• Forecast sales; 
 

• Product obsolescence; 
 

• Strategic marketing and production plans; 
 

• Technological innovations; and  
 

• Character of the inventory as a distributed item, finished manufactured item or raw material.  
 
Any modifications to estimates of inventory valuation reserves are reflected in cost of goods sold within the statements of operations during the period in which such 

modifications are determined necessary by management. As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, our inventory valuation reserve balance was approximately $553,000 and $590,000, respectively, 
and our inventory balance was $5,074,000 and $5,594,000, net of reserves, respectively. 

 
Revenue Recognition 
  

Our sales force and distributors sell manufactured and distributed products to end users, including orthopedists, physical therapists, chiropractors, athletic trainers, sports 
medicine practitioners, clinics, and hospitals. Revenue is recognized when performance obligations under the terms of a contract with a customer are satisfied which occurs upon the 
transfer of control of a product. This occurs either upon shipment or delivery of goods, depending on whether the contract is FOB origin or FOB destination. Revenue is measured as 
the amount of consideration expected to be received in exchange for transferring products to a customer. Contracts sometimes allow for forms of variable consideration including 
rebates and incentives. In these cases, the Company estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for transferring products to customers utilizing the 
most likely amount method. Rebates and incentives are estimated based on contractual terms or historical experience and a liability is maintained for rebates and incentives that have 
been earned but are unpaid. Revenue is reduced by estimates of potential future contractual discounts including prompt payment discounts. Provisions for contractual discounts are 
recorded as a reduction to revenue in the period sales are recognized. Estimates are made of the contractual discounts that will eventually be incurred. Contractual discounts are estimated 
based on negotiated contracts and historical experience. Shipping and handling activities are accounted for as fulfillment activities. As such, shipping and handling are not considered 
promised services to our customers. Costs for shipping and handling of products to customers are recorded as cost of sales. 
 
Allowance for Credit Losses  
  

We must make estimates of the collectability of accounts receivable. In doing so, we analyze historical bad debt trends, customer credit worthiness, current economic trends 
and changes in customer payment patterns when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for credit losses. Our accounts receivable balance was $2,800,900 and $3,445,000, net of 
allowance for credit losses of $60,000 and $49,000 as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. 
 
Deferred Income Taxes 
  

A valuation allowance is required when there is significant uncertainty as to the realizability of deferred tax assets. The realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon 
our ability to generate sufficient taxable income within the carryforward periods provided for in the tax law for each tax jurisdiction. We have considered the following possible sources 
of taxable income when assessing the realization of our deferred tax assets: 
 
● future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences; 
    
● future taxable income or loss, exclusive of reversing temporary differences and carryforwards;  
  
● tax-planning strategies; and 
  
● taxable income in prior carryback years. 
  

We considered both positive and negative evidence in determining the continued need for a valuation allowance, including the following: 
  
Positive evidence: 
 

• Current forecasts indicate that we will generate pre-tax income and taxable income in the future. However, there can be no assurance that our strategic plans will 
result in profitability; and  
 

• A majority of our tax attributes have indefinite carryover periods. 
 
Negative evidence: 

 
• We have thirteen years of losses out of the last fourteen fiscal years as of June 30, 2025. 

 
We place more weight on objectively verifiable evidence than on other types of evidence and management currently believes that available negative evidence outweighs the 

available positive evidence. We have therefore determined that we do not meet the “more likely than not” threshold that deferred tax assets will be realized. Accordingly, a valuation 
allowance is required. Any reversal of the valuation allowance in future periods will favorably impact our results of operations in the period of reversal. As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, 
we recorded a full valuation allowance against our net deferred income tax assets. As of June 30, 2025, the Company had federal and state operating loss carryforwards of $24.7 million 
and $12.6 million, respectively. The federal net operating loss carryforwards have carryforward periods that are indefinite or begin to expire in 2037. The state net operating loss 
carryforwards have carryforward periods that are indefinite or have various expirations. 
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Impairment of Goodwill and Long-Lived Assets 
  

We test goodwill and long lived assets for impairment annually or upon triggers such as performance declines. Judgment includes identifying asset groups, allocating shared 
costs, and choosing valuation methods like discounted cash flows with projections over 10 years, assuming moderate growth and risk-adjusted discount rates. Fair values are sensitive 
to assumptions such as small changes in discount rates, margins, or growth, which could significantly impact estimates and trigger additional impairments. Implied returns may be 
below market rates in certain cases. In 2025, fair values of goodwill and certain intangible assets did not substantially exceed carrying values in impaired areas, leading to charges, 
while others approximated carrying values. Adverse deviations from these assumptions could require further impairment. 
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements 
  

See Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of the Form 10-K for a description of recent accounting pronouncements. 
 
Off-Balance Sheet Financing 
  

We have no off-balance sheet debt or similar obligations. We have no transactions or obligations with related parties that are not disclosed, consolidated into or reflected in 
our reported results of operations or financial position. We do not guarantee any third-party debt. 
 
Business Plan and Outlook 
  

This past year our focus has been on driving profitability in our business through continued business optimization initiatives and new product launches, while continuing to 
build our restorative products platform for long-term success. 
  

We are confident that the steps we have taken will position the Company for success moving forward. In fiscal 2026, we are focused on executing our strategies as follows: 
  
● Drive sales through enhancing our partnerships with key strategic accounts, demand generation, and continuing to deliver a superior customer experience;  
  
● Increase our operating profitability through disciplined product portfolio management; and  
  
● Pursue merger and acquisition opportunities in our core markets through pipeline management, disciplined valuation, and superior execution.  
  

We are actively pursuing an acquisition strategy to consolidate other manufacturers in our core markets (i.e. physical therapy, rehabilitation, orthopedics, pain management, 
and athletic training).   
 
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk 
  

Not Applicable. 
    
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 
  

Audited consolidated financial statements and related documents required by this item are included in this report on the pages indicated in the following table: 
  
    Page   
        
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 (PCAOB ID 270)   21   
        
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2025 and 2024   22   
        
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended June 2025 and 2024   23   
        
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024   24   
        
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024   25   
        
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements   26   
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 
  
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders  
Dynatronics Corporation 
 
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements  
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Dynatronics Corporation and subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”) as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, the related 
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended June 30, 2025, and the related notes (collectively referred 
to as the financial statements). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company as of June 30, 2025 
and 2024, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended June 30, 2025, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles.   
 
Substantial Doubt about the Company’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern 
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note 13 to the financial statements, the 
Company’s present financial situation raises substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. Management's plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 
13. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. 
 
Basis for Opinion  
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. 
We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the 
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.  
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud.  The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal 
control over financial reporting.  As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.   
 
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risk of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond 
to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.  We believe that our 
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
 
Critical Audit Matter 
The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to 
the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex 
judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the 
critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates. 
 
Estimation of the Fair Value of Goodwill and Intangible Assets 
As more fully described in Notes 1 and 4 to the consolidated financial statements, given the Company’s historical operating loss, the Company evaluated its goodwill and intangible 
assets for impairment as of the Company’s fiscal year-end.  
 
Auditing the Company’s annual impairment assessments was complex and highly judgmental due to the significant estimation required in determining the fair value of the reporting 
units for goodwill and the fair value of the intangible assets. Management engaged a third-party valuation specialist to assist in the impairment analysis, which resulted in the recognition 
of an impairment during the year ended June 30, 2025. The valuation was based on a discounted cash flow analysis and supported by other valuation approaches. We evaluated the 
methodology and key assumptions used in the valuation.  
 
Our testing of the Company's measurements of fair value included, among other procedures, evaluating the significant assumptions and operating data used to estimate fair value. 
 
 
/s/ Tanner LLC 
 
We have served as the Company’s auditors since October 24, 2016.  
 
Salt Lake City, Utah 
October 14, 2025 
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DYNATRONICS CORPORATION 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 
As of June 30, 2025 and 2024 

 
  

 2025  2024 
Assets     
Current assets:     
Cash and cash equivalents   $                         326,344    $                         483,918  
Restricted cash    50,410     50,410  
Trade accounts receivable, less allowance for credit losses of $60,347 and $48,997 as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, 
respectively                            2,800,900                            3,444,587  
Other receivables                              186,403                               454,390  
Inventories, net                           5,074,348                            5,593,974  
Prepaid expenses                              515,780                               530,356  
      
Total current assets                           8,954,185                          10,557,635  
      
Property and equipment, net                           1,513,872                            1,969,413  
Operating lease assets                           3,195,211                            2,831,417  
Intangible assets, net                           1,431,382                            2,999,975  
Goodwill                                       —                            7,116,614  
Other assets                              344,292                               465,505  
      
Total assets   $                    15,438,942    $                    25,940,559  
      
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity     
Current liabilities:     
Accounts payable   $                      3,404,121    $                      2,712,142  
Accrued payroll and benefits expense                              360,893                               566,443  
Accrued expense                              878,874                               725,727  
Warranty reserve                              105,664                               120,677  
Line of credit                           1,996,956                            2,121,667  
Current portion of finance lease liability                              320,423                               302,998  
Current portion of deferred gain                              150,448                               150,448  
Current portion of operating lease liability                           1,018,696                            1,004,808  
      
Total current liabilities                           8,236,075                            7,704,910  
      
Finance lease liability, net of current portion                           1,108,448                            1,428,870  
Deferred gain, net of current portion                              476,418                               626,866  
Operating lease liability, net of current portion                           2,185,998                            1,829,608  
Other liabilities                              169,799                               189,861  
      
Total liabilities                         12,176,738                          11,780,115  
      
Commitments and contingencies     
      
Stockholders’ equity:     
Preferred stock, no par value: Authorized 50,000,000 shares; 3,351,000 shares issued and outstanding as of June 
30, 2025 and 2024                           7,980,788                            7,980,788  
Common stock, no par value: Authorized 100,000,000 shares; 10,619,543 shares and 5,308,519 shares issued 
and outstanding as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively                         35,793,417                          35,087,825  
Accumulated deficit                       (40,512,001)                       (28,908,169) 
      
Total stockholders’ equity                           3,262,204                          14,160,444  
      
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $                    15,438,942    $                    25,940,559       

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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DYNATRONICS CORPORATION 
Consolidated Statements of Operations 

For the Years Ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 
    

  2025  2024 
Net sales     $                    27,393,163    $                    32,533,965  
Cost of sales                           21,382,044                          24,898,987  

Gross profit                            6,011,119                            7,634,978  
       

Selling, general, and administrative expenses                             8,464,424                            9,908,026  
Operating loss                          (2,453,305)                         (2,273,048) 

       
Other (expense) income:      

Interest expense, net                             (409,906)                            (418,005) 
Intangible assets impairment                             (950,293)                                       —  
Goodwill impairment                          (7,116,614)                                       —  
Other income (expense), net                                 40,670                                 (6,666) 
Net other expense                          (8,436,143)                            (424,671) 
       
Loss before income taxes                        (10,889,448)                         (2,697,719) 
       

Income tax provision                               (12,161)                                       —  
       

Net loss                        (10,901,609)                         (2,697,719) 
       
Preferred stock dividend, in common stock, issued or to be issued                             (702,223)                            (730,873) 
       
Net loss attributable to common stockholders     $                  (11,603,832)   $                    (3,428,592) 
       

Net loss per common share:      
Basic and diluted    $                             (1.43)   $                             (1.00) 
       

Weighted average shares outstanding:      
Basic and diluted                            8,129,265                            3,421,606  

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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DYNATRONICS CORPORATION 
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity 

For the Years Ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 
  
  

 Common stock  Preferred stock  Accumulated  
Total 

stockholders’  
 Shares  Amount  Shares  Amount  deficit  equity 

Balance at June 30, 2023                           4,044,984    $                    34,355,315                            3,351,000    $                      7,980,788    $                  (25,479,577)     $                    16,856,526  
Stock-based compensation                                31,633                                   1,637                                        —                                        —                                        —                                   1,637  
Preferred stock dividend, in 

common stock, issued or to be 
issued                           1,231,902                               730,873                                        —                                        —                             (730,873)                                       —  

Net loss                                       —                                        —                                        —                                        —                          (2,697,719)                         (2,697,719) 
Balance at June 30, 2024                           5,308,519                          35,087,825                            3,351,000                            7,980,788                        (28,908,169)                         14,160,444  

Stock-based compensation                                20,000                                   3,369                                        —                                        —                                        —                                   3,369  
Preferred stock dividend, in 

common stock, issued or to be 
issued                           5,291,024                               702,223                                        —                                        —                             (702,223)                                       —  

Net loss                                       —                                        —                                        —                                        —                          (10,901,609)                         (10,901,609) 
Balance at June 30, 2025                         10,619,543    $                    35,793,417                            3,351,000    $                      7,980,788    $                  (40,512,001)   $                    3,262,204               

 
 

        See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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DYNATRONICS CORPORATION 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

For the Years Ended June 30, 2025 and 2024  
 
   

 2025  2024 
Cash flows from operating activities:     

Net loss   $                    (10,901,609)   $                    (2,697,719) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:     

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment                              487,008                               685,406  
Amortization of intangible assets                              618,300                               618,300  
Intangible assets impairment  950,293    — 
Goodwill impairment  7,116,614    — 
Loss on sale of property and equipment                                  5,466                                 41,389  
Stock-based compensation                                  3,369                                   1,637  
Change in allowance for credit losses                                11,350                               (82,406) 
Change in allowance for inventory obsolescence                              (36,557)                                93,753  
Amortization of deferred gain on sale/leaseback                            (150,448)                            (150,448) 
Change in operating assets and liabilities:     

Trade accounts receivable                              632,337                               359,496  
Inventories                              556,183                            1,715,467  
Prepaid expenses and other receivables                              282,563                             (243,612) 
Other assets                              121,213                               363,544  
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other current liabilities                              604,501                          (2,315,207) 
      

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities                              300,583                          (1,610,400) 
      

Cash flows from investing activities:     
Purchase of property and equipment                              (30,448)                            (243,287) 
      

Net cash used in investing activities                              (30,448)                            (243,287) 
      

Cash flows from financing activities:     
Principal payments on finance lease liability                            (302,998)                            (286,522) 
Net change in line of credit                            (124,711)                           2,121,667  
        

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities                            (427,709)                           1,835,145  
      
Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash                            (157,574)                              (18,542) 
      

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of the period                              534,328                               552,870  
      
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of the period   $                         376,754    $                         534,328  
      
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:     

Cash paid for interest   $                         253,014    $                         276,742  
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities     

Preferred stock dividend, in common stock, issued or to be issued   $                         702,223    $                         730,873  
Operating lease right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations                           1,467,892                               252,639  

 
 

 See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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DYNATRONICS CORPORATION 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
June 30, 2025 and 2024 

  
 

Note 1. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
  
Description of Business 
  
Dynatronics Corporation (“Company,” or “Dynatronics”) is a leading medical device company committed to providing high-quality products designed to accelerate optimal health. The 
Company designs, manufactures, and sells a broad range of products for clinical use in physical therapy, rehabilitation, orthopedics, pain management, and athletic training. Through 
its distribution channels, Dynatronics markets and sells to orthopedists, physical therapists, chiropractors, athletic trainers, sports medicine practitioners, clinics, and hospitals.  
  
Principles of Consolidation 
  
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts and operations of Dynatronics Corporation and its wholly owned subsidiaries, Hausmann Enterprises, LLC and Bird & 
Cronin, LLC. The consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”). All significant intercompany account 
balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 
  
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash 
  
Cash and cash equivalents include all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less at the date of purchase. Also included within cash and cash equivalents are 
deposits in-transit from banks for payments related to third-party credit card and debit card transactions. Cash and cash equivalents totaled approximately $326,000 and $484,000 as of 
June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. Restricted cash totaled approximately $50,000 as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, and primarily consisted of a certificate of deposit. 
  
Inventories 
  
Finished goods inventories are stated at the lower of standard cost, which approximates actual cost using the first-in, first-out method, or net realizable value. Raw materials are stated 
at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or net realizable value. The Company periodically reviews the value of items in inventory and records write-downs or write-offs based 
on its assessment of slow moving or obsolete inventory. The Company maintains a reserve for obsolete inventory and generally makes inventory value adjustments against the reserve. 
  
Trade Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Credit Losses  
  
Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest, although finance charges may be applied to past due accounts. The Company maintains an 
allowance for credit losses in accordance with accounting standards update (“ASU”) No. 2016-13. The Company evaluates its allowance based on expected losses rather than incurred 
losses, which is known as the current expected credit loss (“CECL”) model. The allowance is determined using the loss rate approach and is measured on a collective (pool) basis when 
similar risk characteristics exist. Where financial instruments do not share risk characteristics, they are evaluated on an individual basis. The Company determines the allowance based 
on a combination of statistical analysis, historical collection patterns, customers’ current credit worthiness, the age of account balances, and general economic conditions. Account 
balances are charged against the allowance when the potential for recovery is considered remote. Recoveries of accounts previously written off are recognized when payment is received. 
 
Property and Equipment 
  
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Buildings 
and improvements are depreciated over estimated useful lives that range from 5 to 31 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the remaining term of the respective building 
lease. Machinery, office equipment, computer equipment and software and vehicles are depreciated over estimated useful lives that range from 3 to 7 years. 
  
Goodwill 
  
Goodwill resulted from the Hausmann and Bird & Cronin acquisitions. Goodwill in a business combination represents the purchase price in excess of identifiable tangible and intangible 
assets. Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not amortized. Instead they are reviewed periodically for impairment. 
  
The Company evaluates goodwill on an annual basis in the fourth quarter or more frequently if management believes indicators of impairment exist. Such indicators could include, but 
are not limited to (1) a significant adverse change in legal factors or in business climate, (2) unanticipated competition, or (3) an adverse action or assessment by a regulator. The 
Company first assesses qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, including goodwill. If 
management concludes that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, management conducts a quantitative goodwill impairment 
test. The impairment test involves comparing the fair value of the applicable reporting unit with its carrying value. The Company estimates the fair values of its reporting units using a 
combination of the income, or discounted cash flows, approach and the market approach, which utilizes comparable companies’ data. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds 
the reporting unit’s fair value, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess, limited to the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit.  
 
Long-Lived Assets 
  
Long–lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of 
assets is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of an 
asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized for the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and the fair value of the asset. Assets to 
be disposed are separately presented in the balance sheet at the lower of net book value or fair value less estimated disposition costs and are no longer depreciated. 
  
Intangible Assets 
  
Costs associated with the acquisition of trademarks, certain trade names, license rights and non-compete agreements are capitalized and amortized using the straight-line method over 
periods ranging from 3 months to 20 years. Trade names determined to have an indefinite life are not amortized, but are required to be tested for impairment and written down, if 
necessary. The Company assesses indefinite lived intangible assets for impairment each fiscal year or more frequently if events and circumstances indicate impairment may have 
occurred. 
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 Leases 
  
Management determines if a contract is or contains a lease at inception or modification of a contract. A contract is or contains a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use 
of an identified asset for a period in exchange for consideration. Control over the use of the identified asset means the lessee has both (a) the right to obtain substantially all of the 
economic benefits from the use of the asset and (b) the right to direct the use of the asset. Such assets are classified as right-of-use (“ROU”) assets with a corresponding lease liability. 
  
Finance and operating lease ROU assets and liabilities are recorded at commencement at the present value of future minimum lease payments over the expected lease term. As the 
implicit discount rate for the present value calculation is not determinable in most of the Company’s leases, management uses the Company’s incremental borrowing rate based on the 
information available at commencement of the lease. The expected lease terms include options to extend the lease when it is reasonably certain the Company will exercise such options. 
Lease expense for minimum lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the expected lease term. Leases with an expected term of 12 months or less are not accounted for 
on the balance sheet and the related lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the expected lease term. 
 
The Company has operating and finance leases for various administrative, manufacturing, and distribution facilities and equipment. Most of the Company’s leases include one or more 
options to renew and extend the lease term two years to five years. The exercise of lease renewal options is typically at the Company’s sole discretion, however, as a material economic 
incentive to exercise the option exists, the majority of renewals to extend the lease terms are included in the ROU assets and lease liabilities as they are reasonably certain of exercise. 
The Company’s lease agreements do not contain any material non-lease components, residual value guarantees, or material restrictive covenants. 
 
Revenue Recognition 
  
The Company recognizes revenue when performance obligations under the terms of a contract with a customer are satisfied which occurs upon the transfer of control of a product. This 
occurs either upon shipment or delivery of goods, depending on whether the contract is FOB origin or FOB destination. Revenue is measured as the amount of consideration expected 
to be received in exchange for transferring products to a customer. Contracts sometimes allow for forms of variable consideration including rebates and incentives. In these cases, the 
Company estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for transferring products to customers utilizing the most likely amount method. Rebates and 
incentives are estimated based on contractual terms or historical experience and a liability is maintained for rebates and incentives that have been earned but are unpaid. Revenue is 
reduced by estimates of potential future contractual discounts including prompt payment discounts. Provisions for contractual discounts are recorded as a reduction to revenue in the 
period sales are recognized. Estimates are made of the contractual discounts that will eventually be incurred. Contractual discounts are estimated based on negotiated contracts and 
historical experience. Shipping and handling activities are accounted for as fulfillment activities. As such, shipping and handling are not considered promised services to our customers. 
Costs for shipping and handling of products to customers are recorded as cost of sales.  
  
Product Warranty Costs 
  
The Company provides a warranty on all products it manufactures for time periods ranging in length from 90 days to fifteen years from the date of sale. Costs estimated to be incurred 
in connection with the Company’s product warranty programs are charged to expense as products are sold based on historical warranty rates. The Company maintains a reserve for 
estimated product warranty costs to be incurred related to products previously sold. 
  
Net Loss per Common Share 
  
Net loss per common share is computed based on the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding and, when appropriate, dilutive potential common shares outstanding 
during the year. Convertible preferred stock, stock options and warrants are considered to be potential common shares. The computation of diluted net income (loss) per common share 
does not assume exercise or conversion of securities that would have an anti-dilutive effect. 
  
Basic net loss per common share is the amount of net loss for the year available to each weighted-average share of common stock outstanding during the year. Diluted net loss per 
common share is the amount of net loss for the year available to each weighted-average share of common stock outstanding during the year and to each potential common share 
outstanding during the year, unless inclusion of potential common shares would have an anti-dilutive effect. 
  
Weighted average outstanding options, warrants and convertible preferred stock for common shares, which are not included in the computation of diluted net loss per common share 
because they were anti-dilutive, totaled 670,200 and 503,566 for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. 
 
Income Taxes 
  
The Company recognizes an asset or liability for the deferred income tax consequences of all temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their reported 
amounts in the consolidated financial statements that will result in taxable or deductible amounts in future years when the reported amounts of the assets and liabilities are recovered or 
settled. Accounting standards require the consideration of a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets if it is “more likely than not” that some component or all of the benefits of 
deferred tax assets will not be realized. Accruals for uncertain tax positions are provided for in accordance with applicable accounting standards. The Company may recognize the tax 
benefits from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of 
the position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such a position are measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being 
realized upon ultimate settlement. Judgment is required in assessing the future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the financial statements or tax returns. Variations 
in the actual outcome of these future tax consequences could materially impact the Company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows. 
  
Stock-Based Compensation 
  
Stock-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award determined by using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and is recognized as 
expense over the applicable vesting period of the stock award (zero to five years) using the straight-line method. 
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Other Receivables 
  
Other receivables consist of amounts due from our contract manufacturer for raw materials components provided for use in the production of our products. Payments are due from our 
contract manufacturer based on the usage of raw material components. As of June 30, 2025, other receivables included $139,000 due from our contract manufacturer.  
  
Concentration of Risk 
  
In the normal course of business, the Company provides unsecured credit to its customers. Most of the Company’s customers are involved in the medical industry. The Company 
performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and maintains allowances for probable losses which, when realized, have been within the range of management’s expectations. 
The Company maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts which at times may exceed federally insured limits. 
  
As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Company had approximately $13,000 and $160,000, respectively, in cash and cash equivalents in excess of federally insured limits. The Company 
has not experienced any losses in such accounts. Certain of the Company’s employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement. As of June 30, 2025, approximately 40% of 
the Company’s employees were covered by a collective bargaining agreement scheduled to expire in 2028.  
 
For the year ended June 30, 2025, the Company had one customer that represented 10.5% of net accounts receivable.  
  
Operating Segments 
  
The Company operates in one line of business: the development, manufacturing, marketing, and distribution of a broad line of medical products for the orthopedic, physical therapy 
and similar markets. As such, the Company has only one reportable operating segment. 
  
Use of Estimates 
  
Management of the Company has made a number of estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include the impairment and useful lives of long-lived assets; receivable 
valuation allowances for credit losses, deferred income taxes, and obsolete inventories; accrued product warranty costs; and fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in an 
acquisition. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements 
  
In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, Debt—Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity 
(Subtopic 815-40): Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity, which is intended to simplify the accounting for certain financial instruments with 
characteristics of liabilities and equity, including convertible instruments and contracts on an entity’s own equity. The guidance allows for either full retrospective adoption or modified 
retrospective adoption. The Company adopted this standard as of July 1, 2024 and the adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements 
and related disclosures.  
 
In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280)—Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures, to improve reportable segment disclosure 
requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses. The amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023 and interim 
periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. The Company adopted this standard as of June 30, 2025 and the adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact 
on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. 
 
In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740)—Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures, which is intended to enhance the transparency and decision 
usefulness of income tax disclosures. Public business entities are required to adopt for annual fiscal periods beginning after December 15, 2024 and early adoption is permitted. The 
Company is evaluating the impact the adoption of this guidance will have on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. 
 
In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Comprehensive Income (Topic 220) —Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses, to improve financial reporting by requiring 
disclosures in the notes to financial statements about specific types of expenses included in the expense captions presented on the face of the statement of operations. The requirements 
of the ASU are effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2026, and for interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2027, with early adoption 
permitted. The requirements will be applied prospectively with the option for retrospective application. The Company is evaluating the impact the adoption of this guidance will have 
on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. 
 
In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-04, Debt—Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 47020): Induced Conversions of Convertible Debt Instruments, which 
clarifies the requirements for determining whether certain settlements of convertible debt instruments should be accounted for as an induced conversion. The requirements of the ASU 
are effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2025, and for interim reporting periods within those annual reporting periods. The Company is evaluating the 
impact the adoption of this guidance will have on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. 
 
In July 2025, the FASB issued ASU 2025-05, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326) – Measurement of Credit Losses for Accounts Receivable and Contract Assets, to 
introduce a practical expedient to calculating current expected credit loss by assuming that the current conditions as of the balance sheet date will not change for the remaining life of 
the asset. This expedient can only be applied to current accounts receivable and current contract assets. This update is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 
15, 2025 and interim periods within those annual periods, and this update is applied prospectively. Early adoption is permitted in both interim and annual periods in which financials 
have not been issued. The Company is evaluating the impact the adoption of this guidance will have on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. 
 
The Company does not believe that there are any other new accounting pronouncements that have been issued that might have a material impact on its financial position or results of 
operations. 
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Note 2. Inventories, Net 
  
Inventories, net consist of the following as of June 30:  

 2025   2024 
Raw materials   $                      3,261,234     $                      3,596,287  
Work in process                              351,510      315,075  
Finished goods                           2,014,728      2,272,295  
Inventory reserve                            (553,126)     (589,683) 
    $                      5,074,348     $                      5,593,974        

 
Included in cost of goods sold for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, are inventory write-offs of approximately $66,000 and $158,000, respectively. The write-offs reflect 
inventories related to discontinued product lines, excess repair parts, product rejected for quality standards, and other non-performing inventories. 
 
 Note 3. Property and Equipment, Net  
  
Property and equipment, net consist of the following as of June 30:  

 2025   2024 
Buildings   $                      4,114,801     $                      4,134,200  
Machinery and equipment                           1,550,009                             2,016,035  
Office equipment                               414,120                                414,660  
Computer equipment                               755,353                                843,121  
     6,834,283      7,408,016  
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization     (5,320,411)     (5,438,603) 
    $                      1,513,872     $                      1,969,413        

  
Depreciation expense for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 was $480,524 and $680,767, respectively. 
  
Included in the above caption, “Buildings” as of June 30, 2025 and 2024 is a building lease that is accounted for as a finance lease asset (see Notes 6 and 7) with a gross value of 
$3,800,000. 
 
Note 4. Intangible Assets, Net and Goodwill  
  
Intangible Assets  
 
Identifiable intangible assets, net consisted of the following as of and for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024: 
 

  
Trade name - indefinite 

life  
Non-compete 

covenant  
Customer 

relationships  
Total 

Gross carrying amount         
June 30, 2024   $                      1,084,000    $                438,000    $          6,183,000    $         7,705,000  
Additions                                       -                                 -                               -                             -    
Disposals                                        -                                 -                               -                             -    
Impairment                            (526,000)                   (363,300)              (2,301,300)            (3,190,600) 
June 30, 2025   $                         558,000    $                  74,700    $          3,881,700    $         4,514,400  
                           
Accumulated Amortization 

        

June 30, 2024  $                                    -      $                438,000    $          4,267,025    $         4,705,025  
Additions                                       -                                 -                     618,300                  618,300  
Disposals                                       -                                 -                               -                             -    
Impairment                                       -                      (363,300)              (1,877,007)            (2,240,307) 
June 30, 2025                                       -                          74,700                3,008,318               3,083,018  

Net book value at June 30, 2025   $                         558,000    $                           -      $             873,382    $         1,431,382           
  

 
Trade name - indefinite 

life  
Non-compete 

covenant  
Customer 

relationships  
Total 

Gross carrying amount         
June 30, 2023   $                      1,084,000    $                438,000    $          6,183,000    $         7,705,000  
Additions                                       -                                 -                               -                             -    
Disposals                                        -                                 -                               -                             -    
June 30, 2024   $                      1,084,000    $                438,000    $          6,183,000    $         7,705,000  

         
Accumulated Amortization 

        

June 30, 2023   $                                    -      $               438,000    $          3,648,725    $         4,086,725  
Additions                                       -                                 -                     618,300                  618,300  
Disposals                                       -                                 -                               -                             -    
June 30, 2024                                       -                        438,000                4,267,025               4,705,025  

Net book value at June 30, 2024   $                      1,084,000    $                          -      $          1,915,975    $         2,999,975           
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During the year ended June 30, 2025, the Company recorded impairment charges of $950,293 related to certain intangible assets, primarily to customer relationships, non-compete 
covenant, and trade name as the carrying amounts of these assets exceeded their estimated fair values based on discounted cash flow analyses.  No intangible asset impairment was 
recorded for the year ended June 30, 2024. 
 
Amortization expense associated with the intangible assets, net was $618,300 for both fiscal years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024. Estimated future amortization expense for the 
identifiable intangible assets, net is expected to be as follows for the years ending June 30: 

  
  
2026               $ 388,170   
2027                 388,170   
2028                 97,042   
Total               $ 873,382   
 
Goodwill  
 
The following table presents the changes in goodwill for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024: 
 
     Total 
Net balance at July 1, 2024 

       
$     7,116,614  

   Goodwill impairment       (7,116,614) 
Net balance at June 30, 2025 

       
$                    -    

     
 
During the annual goodwill impairment assessment performed as of June 30, 2025, the Company determined that the carrying amount of the reporting units exceeded its estimated fair 
value. As a result, the Company recognized a goodwill impairment charge of $7,116,614 for the year ended June 30, 2025. No goodwill impairment was recorded for the year ended 
June 30, 2024. 
 
Note 5. Debt, Net 
  
As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, the line of credit was $1,996,956 and $2,121,667, respectively, net of unamortized closing fees of $98,816 and $190,030, respectively. 
 
On August 1, 2023, the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the "Loan Agreement") with Gibraltar Business Capital, LLC ("Lender"), to provide asset-based 
financing to the Company to be used for operating capital. Amounts available under the Loan Agreement (the "Revolving Loans") are subject to a borrowing base calculation of up to 
a maximum availability of $7,500,000 (the "Revolving Loan Commitment") and bear interest at SOFR plus 5.00% (10.3% as of June 30, 2024). The Company paid a closing fee of 
1.00% of the Revolving Loan Commitment and the line is subject to a monthly unused line fee in an annualized amount equal to 0.50% on the difference between the Revolving Loan 
Commitment and the average outstanding principal balance of the Revolving Loans for such month. The maturity date is three years from the date of the promissory note evidencing 
the Revolving Loans, subject to extension in accordance with the terms of the Loan Agreement. 
 
The Loan Agreement provides for revolving credit borrowings by the Company in an amount up to the lesser of the Revolving Loan Commitment and a borrowing base amount equal 
to the sum of stated percentages of eligible accounts receivable and inventory, less reserves, computed on a weekly basis. 
 
The obligations of the Company under the Loan Agreement are secured by a first-priority security interest in substantially all of the assets of the Company (including, without limitation, 
accounts receivable, equipment, inventory and other goods, intellectual property, contract rights and other general intangibles, cash, deposit accounts, equity interests in subsidiaries 
and joint ventures, investment property, documents and instruments, and proceeds of the foregoing). 
 
The Loan Agreement contains affirmative and negative covenants, including covenants that restrict the ability of the Company and its subsidiaries to, among other things, incur or 
guarantee indebtedness, incur liens, dispose of assets, engage in mergers and consolidations, make acquisitions or other investments, make changes in the nature of its business, and 
engage in transactions with affiliates. The Loan Agreement also contains financial covenants applicable to the Company and its subsidiaries, including a minimum fixed charge coverage 
ratio of 1.0 to 1.0 if excess availability is less than $1,000,000 of the borrowing base. 
 
Note 6. Leases 
  
Leases recorded on the balance sheets consist of the following: 
     June 30,  2025  June 30,  2024 

Lease Assets  Classification on the Balance Sheet      
Operating lease assets    Operating lease assets, net    $                               3,195,211    $                          2,831,417  
Finance lease assets    Property and equipment, net                                     1,097,333                                1,365,860  
        
Lease Liabilities        
Current        

Operating    Current portion of operating lease liability    $                               1,018,696    $                          1,004,808  
Finance   Current portion of finance lease liability                                        320,423                                   302,998  

Noncurrent        
Operating    Operating lease liability, net of current portion    $                               2,185,998    $                          1,829,608  
Finance   Finance lease liability, net of current portion                                     1,108,448                                1,428,870  
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Other information related to lease term and discount rate is as follows: 
  
        June 30,  2025     June 30, 2024   

Weighted Average Remaining Lease Term                     
Operating leases       2.9 years     3.3 years   
Finance leases       2.9 years     4.4 years   
Weighted Average Discount Rate                     
Operating leases         9.4 %     9.2 % 
Finance leases         4.0 %     4.8 % 

 
The components of lease expense are as follows: 
  

        Year Ended June 30, 
2025     Year Ended June 30, 

2024   

Operating lease cost   Classification on the Statement of Operations                 
Operating lease cost    Cost of sales   $ 847,367     $ 433,065   
Operating lease cost    Selling, general, and administrative expenses     491,241       582,772   
Short term lease cost    Selling, general, and administrative expenses     2,468       3,079   
                      
Finance lease cost                     
Amortization of finance lease assets    Cost of sales     125,967       125,967   
Amortization of finance lease assets    Selling, general, and administrative expenses     142,560       140,674   
Interest on finance lease liabilities    Interest expense, net     89,282       105,591   
Total lease cost       $ 1,698,885     $ 1,391,148   
 
Future minimum lease payments as of June 30, 2025, are summarized as follows: 
     Operating Lease  Finance Lease 

Year ending June 30             
2026     $                               1,246,926    $                             420,188  
2027                                         1,282,187                                    428,200  
2028                                      1,117,540                                   428,080  
2029                                                      -                                      424,800  
2030                                                   -                                       71,032  
Total future minimum lease payments                                         3,646,653                                 1,772,300  
Less imputed interest                                        (478,387)                                 (343,429) 
Total present value of lease liabilities        $                               3,168,266     $                          1,428,871  

       
The Company has exercised the option to extend the term of the New Jersey facility operating lease by five years through March 31, 2028. For the Minnesota facility operating lease, 
the Company exercised an extension for six months through December 2025, and subsequently the building was sold to a non-related party to which the Company entered into a new 
lease in April 2025 through June 2028. The annual minimum lease payments for the New Jersey and Minnesota facilities are approximately $747,000 and $556,000, respectively. 
 
The Company leases office, manufacturing and warehouse facilities in Northvale, New Jersey from employees, shareholders, and entities controlled by shareholders; who were 
previously principals of businesses acquired by the Company. Prior to April 2025, the Company also leased office, manufacturing and warehouse facilities in Eagan, Minnesota from 
employees, shareholders, and entities by shareholders who were previously principals of businesses acquired by the Company; however, as of April 2025, the Minnesota facility is no 
longer associated with related parties. The combined expenses associated with these related-party transactions totaled $1,222,948 and $1,339,252 for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 
2024, respectively. 
  
Note 7. Deferred Gain 
  
On August 8, 2014, the Company sold the property that houses its operations in Utah and leased back the premises for a term of 15 years. The sales price was $3,800,000. 
  
The sale of the building resulted in a $2,269,255 gain, which is recorded in the consolidated balance sheets as deferred gain that is being recognized as an offset to amortization in 
selling, general and administrative expenses over the 15-year life of the lease on a straight-line basis. The balance of the deferred gain was as follows as of June 30: 

  
    2025       2024   
Balance of deferred gain   $ 626,866       $ 777,314   
Less current portion     (150,448 )       (150,448 ) 
Deferred gain, net of current portion   $ 476,418       $ 626,866   
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Note 8. Income Taxes 
  
The income tax (benefit) provision is as follows for the year ended June 30, 2025 and June 30,2024: 
  

 Current   Deferred  Total 
2025:       
U.S. federal  $                                    -      $                                        -      $                                               -    
State and local  12,161    -      12,161   

  $                          12,161    $                                        -      $                                     12,161  
2024:    
U.S. federal 

 
$                                   -    

 
 $                                       -    

 
 $                                              -    

State and local 
 

-    
 

 -    
 

 -     
  $                                   -      $                                       -      $                                              -    

    
 
The components of the Company’s income tax benefit (provision) are as follows for the years ended June 30: 
  

   2025  2024 
Expected tax benefit    $               2,289,444    $              566,521  
State taxes, net of federal tax benefit    404,341    97,884  
Valuation allowance    (802,322)  (664,480) 
Impairment    (1,758,432)  -    
Incentive stock options    -      1,657  
Other, net    (145,192)  (1,582)  

   $                 (12,161)  $                         -           
 
  The Company’s deferred income tax assets and (liabilities) related to the tax effects of temporary differences are as follows as of June 30: 
 
   2025  2024 
Net deferred income tax assets (liabilities):       

Inventory capitalization for income tax purposes    $                  21,864    $               28,642  
Inventory reserve    136,671    145,227  
Accrued employee benefit reserve    31,067    40,164  
Warranty reserve    26,108    29,720  
Interest expense limitation    441,908    339,509  
Allowance for credit losses and other    47,931    35,918  
Property and equipment, principally due to differences in depreciation    (144,592)  (13,672) 
Intangible assets    400,613    121,697  
Research and development credit carryover    574,022    574,022  
Deferred gain on sale lease-back    154,891    191,436  
Operating loss carry forwards    5,993,596    5,388,117  
Valuation allowance    (7,686,550)  (6,884,228) 
Capitalized research and development    2,471    3,448  

Total deferred income tax assets (liabilities)    $                           -      $                        -    
    

 
Quarterly, the Company assesses the likelihood by jurisdiction that its net deferred income tax assets will be recovered. Based on the weight of all available evidence, both positive and 
negative, the Company records a valuation allowance against deferred income tax assets when it is more-likely-than-not that a future tax benefit will not be realized. When there is a 
change in judgment concerning the recovery of deferred income tax assets in future periods, a valuation allowance is recorded into earnings during the quarter in which the change in 
judgment occurred. As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Company has established a full valuation allowance. 
  
As of June 30, 2025, the Company had federal and state operating loss carryforwards of approximately $24.7 million and $12.6 million, respectively. The federal net operating loss 
carryforwards have carryforward periods that are indefinite or begin to expire in 2037. The state net operating loss carryforwards have carryforward periods that are indefinite or have 
various expirations. The Company has no uncertain tax positions as of June 30, 2025. 
 
Note 9. Major Customers 
  
During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025, more than 10% of the Company’s total net sales were generated from the following customers: 
  

 2025  2024 
Customer A   $                      4,014,033    $                      4,231,329  
Customer B    —     4,115,309  
Customer C    3,314,583     4,109,881  
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Note 10. Common Stock and Common Stock Equivalents 
 
The Company maintains an equity incentive plan for the benefit of employees. On December 3, 2018, the shareholders approved the 2018 equity incentive plan (“2018 Equity Plan”), 
setting aside 120,000 shares of common stock. On December 10, 2020, the shareholders approved a new 2020 equity incentive plan (“2020 Equity Plan”), setting aside 200,000 shares 
of common stock. Shares remaining available under the 2018 Equity Plan are eligible for use under the 2020 Equity Plan. Incentive and nonqualified stock options, restricted common 
stock, stock appreciation rights, and other share-based awards may be granted under the plans including performance-based awards. As of June 30, 2025, 194,451 shares of common 
stock (including shares previously available under the 2018 Equity Plan) remained authorized and reserved for issuance, but were not granted under the terms of the 2020 Equity Plan. 
  
For both the years ended June 30, 2025, and 2024, the Company granted 20,000 shares of restricted common stock to directors in connection with compensation agreements and 11,633 
shares to employees. 
 
No options were granted, exercised, forfeited, or expired during the year ended June 30, 2025, and stock options were outstanding as of that date. The Company did not grant or exercise 
any options for the purchase of shares of common stock under its equity incentive plans during fiscal year 2024, and no options were outstanding as of June 30, 2024.  
 
The following table summarizes the Company’s stock option activity during the reported fiscal years: 
   2025    2024 

  Number  
of  

shares 
 Weighted average 

exercise price 
 

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
contractual 

term 

 
Number  

of  
shares 

 Weighted average 
exercise price 

               
Options outstanding at beginning of the year              -      n/a   n/a       28,000    $                      7.80  
Options granted              -      n/a                 -      n/a  
Options canceled or expired              -      n/a          28,000    n/a  

                
Options outstanding at end of the year              -      n/a   n/a              -      n/a  

               
Options exercisable at end of the year              -      n/a                 -      n/a  

               
Range of exercise prices at end of the year     n/a        n/a  

 
The Company recognized $3,369 and $1,637 in stock-based compensation for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, which is included in selling, general, and 
administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.  
 
For fiscal year 2025, stock-based compensation related solely to restricted stock. The stock-based compensation for fiscal year 2024 related to both restricted stock and stock options.  
  
As of June 30, 2025, there is no unrecognized stock-based compensation cost that is expected to be expensed over the next two years. The aggregate intrinsic value of the outstanding 
options as of both June 30, 2025 and 2024 was $0. 
 
Note 11. Convertible Preferred Stock and Common Stock Warrants 
  
As of June 30, 2025, the Company had issued and outstanding a total of 1,992,000 shares of Series A 8% Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series A Preferred”) and 1,359,000 shares of 
Series B Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series B Preferred”). The Series A Preferred and Series B Preferred are convertible into a total of 670,200 shares of common stock. Dividends 
payable on these preferred shares accrue at the rate of 8% per year and are payable quarterly in stock or cash at the option of the Company. The Company generally pays the dividends 
on the preferred stock by issuing shares of our common stock. The formula for paying these dividends using common stock in lieu of cash can change the effective yield on the dividend 
to more or less than 8% depending on the market price of the common stock at the time of issuance. Certain redemption rights are attached to the Series A Preferred and Series B 
Preferred, but none of the redemption rights for cash are deemed outside the control of the Company. The redemption rights deemed outside the control of the Company require common 
stock payments or an increase in the dividend rate. The Series A Preferred and Series B Preferred includes a liquidation preference under which investors would receive cash equal to 
the stated value of their stock plus unpaid dividends. A forced conversion can be initiated based on a formula related to share price and trading volumes.  
  
As of June 30, 2025, the Company had no warrants to issued and outstanding.  
 
In connection with each of the issuances of the Series A Preferred, the Series B Preferred and the Series C Preferred, the Company recorded a deemed dividend related to a beneficial 
conversion feature, which reflects the difference between the underlying common share value of the Series A Preferred, the Series B Preferred, and the Series C Preferred shares as if 
converted, based on the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the date of the applicable transaction, less an amount of the purchase price assigned to the Series A Preferred, 
the Series B Preferred or the Series C Preferred, as applicable, in an allocation of purchase price between the preferred shares and common stock purchase warrants that were issued 
with the Series A Preferred, the Series B Preferred and the Series C Preferred. 
 
The Company chose to pay preferred stock dividends by issuing common shares valued at $702,223 in fiscal year 2025 and $730,873 in fiscal year 2024. At June 30, 2025, there was 
$348,873 in accrued dividends payable for the quarter ended June 30, 2025, which were paid by issuing 2,557,957 shares of common stock in July 2025. 
 
In case of liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, preferred stock has preferential treatment beginning with the Series A Preferred, then the Series B Preferred. After 
preferential amounts, if any, to which the holders of preferred stock may be entitled, the holders of all outstanding shares of common stock shall be entitled to share ratably in the 
remaining assets of the Company. The liquidation preference is as follows:         

 
Shares 

Designated   
Shares 

Outstanding    
Liquidation Value/ 

Preference 
Series A Preferred  

 
          

2,000,000  

 
        

1,992,000  

 
 $                4,980,000                                                 

Series B Preferred  
 

          
1,800,000  

 
        

1,359,000  

 
                                                

3,397,500    
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In case of certain change in control transactions, , and certain other triggering events identified in Section 9 the Certificates of  Designations, Preferences, and Rights of the Series A 
and Series B Preferred Stock, holders of Series A and Series B Preferred Stock have the right to require the Company to redeem their shares of such preferred stock at a redemption 
price equal to 130% of the stated value of the shares.  The aggregate redemption payment that would result from a triggering event, assuming full exercise of such redemption rights by 
the holders of the Series A and Series B Preferred Stock, is as follows:         

 
Shares 

Designated   
Shares 

Outstanding    
Triggering Redemption 

Value 
Series A Preferred  

 
          

2,000,000  

 
        

1,992,000  

 
 $               6,474,000                                                 

Series B Preferred  
 

          
1,800,000  

 
        

1,359,000  

 
                                                

4,416,750    
 
 
Note 12. Employee Benefit Plan  
  
The Company has deferred savings plans which qualify under Internal Revenue Code Section 401(k). The plans covers all employees of the Company who are age 21 or older. For 
fiscal year 2025 and 2024 the Company made matching contributions of 50% of the first 6% of each employee’s contribution up to a maximum of $3,000, with a four-year vesting 
schedule. Contributions to the plan for fiscal years 2025 and 2024 were $63,437 and $73,112 respectively. Matching contributions for future years are at the discretion of the Board of 
Directors. 
  
Note 13. Liquidity, Going Concern and Capital Resources 
  
The Company evaluated whether there are conditions and events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern 
within one year after the date on which this Annual Report on Form 10-K is filed. The Company incurred significant recurring operating losses primarily driven by continuous decline 
in revenues, recurring negative cash flows and continued reduction in liquidity.  

 
As of June 30, 2025, the Company had $326,344 in cash and cash equivalents, compared to $483,918 as of June 30, 2024. The decline from historical sales and subsequent decrease in 
accounts receivable has limited the Company's ability to generate cash from operations and limited the availability of capital from the asset based line of credit. Due to this, net working 
capital has decreased from approximately $2,853,000 as of June 30, 2024 to $718,000 as of June 30, 2025. 
 
The Company reported operating losses of approximately $2,453,000 and $2,273,000 for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. The Company’s declining revenues, 
recurring operating losses and negative cash flows, and continued reduction in liquidity, raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern within one 
year after the issuance date of these financial statements. The Company is in the process of creating a comprehensive plan to address these challenges to improve performance, including 
cost reduction initiatives, streamlining operational processes, pursuing new revenue streams through product diversification, and transitioning production of the majority of our 
therapeutic modalities from a contract manufacturer to internal operations. This shift to in-house production aims to reduce costs by eliminating third-party markups, enhance quality 
control with direct oversight of manufacturing processes, and improve supply chain reliability to mitigate risks of disruptions. The Company is also evaluating the current inventory 
position and working to reduce the amount of excess inventory exposure by promoting discounted prices to convert the excess inventory to cash. The Company will continue to look 
to add to its sales efforts to further improve revenue, consider additional options to improve operating efficiency, and enhance liquidity. The Company believes that if it successfully 
implements the foregoing strategic actions, it has a chance to mitigate the factors giving rise to substantial doubt; however, there is no guarantee that it will successfully implement 
these strategic actions. As a result, substantial doubt remains regarding the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
 
In addition to the foregoing, recent tariff changes imposed by the U.S. and China have created increased risks and uncertainties surrounding the Company's future results of operations. 
The impact of tariffs in the first quarter of 2025 was not material. However, should universal tariffs be implemented as initially announced in April 2025, the Company anticipates a 
significant adverse impact on its future costs of revenue, which will impact its results of operations. Particularly, the U.S. import tariffs and the reciprocal measures by China, are 
expected to increase the Company's cost of goods sold. The Company anticipates that some of its suppliers will incur incremental tariff-related costs, which may be passed on to the 
Company. The extent and duration of the tariffs and the resulting impact on general economic conditions and on the business are uncertain and are expected to be impacted by various 
factors, such as negotiations between the U.S. and affected countries, the responses of other countries or regions, exemptions or exclusions that already exist or may be granted, 
availability and cost of alternative sources of the products and materials, and the Company's ability to offset the effects of any tariffs that might be imposed.  In response to these risks 
and uncertainties, the Company has taken affirmative steps to stock adequate inventory of certain key products and components to service immediate orders and is proactively working 
with its suppliers to mitigate potential tariff-related costs. 
 
Moreover, the continuing effects of uncertainties in the broader economic environment on the global supply chain, higher personnel costs, and changes to customer or product mix, 
could have an adverse effect on our liquidity and cash and we continue to evaluate and take action, as necessary, to preserve adequate liquidity and ensure that our business can continue 
to operate during these uncertain times. Additionally, we operate in a rapidly evolving and unpredictable business environment that may change the timing or amount of expected future 
cash receipts and expenditures. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that we will not be required to raise additional funds through the sale of assets, equity or debt securities or from 
credit facilities. Additional capital, if needed, may not be available on satisfactory terms, or at all. 
  
As discussed in Note 5, on August 1, 2023, the Company is a party to a Loan and Security Agreement which is expected to provide additional operating capital to the Company.  
 
Note 14. Revenue 
  
As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, the rebate liability was $271,551 and $263,959, respectively. The rebate liability is included in accrued expenses in the accompanying consolidated 
balance sheets. As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, the allowance for sales discounts was $7,936 and $13,814, respectively. The allowance for sales discounts is included in trade accounts 
receivable, less allowance for credit losses in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.  
 
The following table disaggregates revenue by major product category: 
  

  Year Ended June 30,   
  2025   2024 

Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation Products    $         15,154,800     $         16,395,499  
Orthopedic Soft Bracing Products     12,144,198      16,055,785  
Other     94,165      82,681   

   $         27,393,163     $         32,533,965         
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Note 15. Segment Information  
 
The Company operates in one operating segment, and therefore one reportable segment, focused on the development, manufacturing, marketing, and distribution of a broad line of 
medical products for the orthopedic, physical therapy and similar markets. This determination, that the Company operates as a single operating segment, is consistent with the financial 
information regularly reviewed by the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) for purposes of evaluating performance, allocating resources, and planning and forecasting future 
periods. The Company’s Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) is the CODM.  
 
The accounting policies for the single operating segment are the same as those described in “Note 1—Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.” The 
CODM uses net loss based on net loss that is reported on the consolidated statement of operations to allocate resources (including employees, property, and financial resources), 
predominantly during the annual budget and forecasting process. Selling, general, and administrative expenses are the sole significant expense category reviewed by the CODM at the 
segment level; no other segment expenses are material or separately evaluated. All revenues are generated in the US. 
 
Asset information is not reported to or reviewed by the CODM to allocate resources, and therefore, the Company has not disclosed asset information for its segment. 
 
The following table presents segment revenue and significant expenses regularly reviewed by the CODM for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024: 
  

 2025  2024 
Net sales   $        27,393,163    $   32,533,965  
Cost of sales             21,382,044         24,898,987  

Gross profit               6,011,119           7,634,978  
      

Selling, general, and administrative expenses               8,464,424           9,908,026  
Operating loss              (2,453,305)         (2,273,048) 

      
Other (expense) income:     

Interest expense, net                 (409,906)            (418,005) 
Intangible assets impairment                 (950,293)                      —  
Goodwill impairment              (7,116,614)                      —  
Other income (expense), net                    40,670                 (6,666) 
Net other expense              (8,436,143)            (424,671) 
      
Loss before income taxes            (10,889,448)         (2,697,719) 

Income tax provision                   (12,161)                      —  
      

Net loss   $       (10,901,609)   $    (2,697,719)      
 
Accordingly, the Company manages its operations as a single operating and reportable segment, and the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto are presented as a single 
reportable segment. 
 
Note 16. Subsequent Events  
 
On September 16, 2025, the Company received a written notice of default and reservation of rights from Lender asserting an event of default by the Company under the Loan Agreement 
for failure to comply with its fixed charge coverage ratio during a financial coverage trigger period.  In the notice, Lender reserved the right to exercise any and all remedies available 
to it in connection with such event of default. To date, Lender has not elected to exercise any such rights, but it may do so at any time in its discretion. 
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 
  

None. 
  
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 
  
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 
  

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information that is required to be disclosed in our reports filed under the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, or Exchange Act, is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated 
and communicated to management, including the Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer) and Chief Financial Officer (principal financial and accounting officer), as 
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding any required disclosure. In designing and evaluating these disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that any controls 
and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management necessarily was required 
to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible disclosure controls and procedures. 
  

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of 
the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined under Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the Exchange Act, as of June 30, 2025. Based on 
this evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that as of June 30, 2025, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective, at a reasonable 
assurance level, to ensure that information we are required to disclose in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is (a) recorded, processed, summarized and reported, 
within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and is (b) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal 
financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 
  
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
  

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act). 
Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 
  

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation 
of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2025. In making this assessment, management used the criteria that have been set forth by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013). Based on our evaluation under the COSO criteria, 
our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2025 is effective. 
  

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial 
reporting since we are a smaller reporting company under the rules of the SEC. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by our registered public accounting firm pursuant to 
an exemption for non-accelerated filers set forth in Section 989G of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act. 
  
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
  

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the year ended June 30, 2025 that have 
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 
   
Item 9B. Other Information 
  

During the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2025, none of our directors or officers informed us of the adoption, modification or termination of a “Rule 10b-5 trading arrangement” 
or “non-Rule 10b-5 trading arrangement,” as those terms are defined in Regulation S-K, Item 408. 
  
Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections 
  

Not applicable. 
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PART III 
  
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance 
  

The information for this Item is incorporated by reference to the definitive proxy statement to be filed no later than 120 days after the close of our last fiscal year, pursuant 
to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act. 
  
Item 11. Executive Compensation 
  

The information for this Item is incorporated by reference to the definitive proxy statement to be filed no later than 120 days after the close of our last fiscal year, pursuant 
to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act. 
  
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters 
  

The information for this Item is incorporated by reference to the definitive proxy statement to be filed no later than 120 days after the close of our last fiscal year, pursuant 
to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act. 
  
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence 
  

The information for this Item is incorporated by reference to the definitive proxy statement to be filed no later than 120 days after the close of our last fiscal year, pursuant 
to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act. 
  
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services 
  

The information for this Item is incorporated by reference to the definitive proxy statement to be filed no later than 120 days after the close of our last fiscal year, pursuant 
to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act. 
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PART IV 
  
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules 
  

(a) Financial Statements and Schedules 
  

The financial statements are set forth under Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, as indexed below. Financial statement schedules have been omitted since they 
either are not required, not applicable, or the information is otherwise included. 
  

Index to Financial Statements 
  

    Page   
        
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024   21   
        
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2025 and 2024   22   
        
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024   23   
        
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024   24   
        
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024   25   
        
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements   26   
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(b) Exhibit Listing.  
 

An index of exhibits incorporated by reference or filed with this Annual Report on Form 10-K is provided below.  
 
 

Exhibit 
Number 

 Description of Exhibit  Filing Reference 

3.1   Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Dynatronics Corporation   
Exhibit 3.1 to Registration 
Statement on Form S-3 filed 
January 27, 2017 

3.2 

 Certificate Designating the Preferences, Rights, and Limitations of the Series A 8% Convertible Preferred Stock of the 
Registrant (Corrected) 

 
Exhibit 3.1 to Current 
Report on Form 8-K, (File 
No. 000-12697) filed July 1, 
2015 

3.3   Certificate Designations, Preferences and Rights of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock of Dynatronics Corporation   
Exhibit 3.1 to Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed 
April 4, 2017 

3.4 

 Articles of Amendment to Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Dynatronics Corporation 

 
Exhibit 3.1 to Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed 
February 1, 2023 

3.5   Amended and Restated Bylaws of Dynatronics Corporation   
Exhibit 3.2 to Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed 
July 22, 2015 

4.1 

 Specimen Common Stock Certificate 

 
Exhibit 4.1 to Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed 
February 1, 2023 

4.2   Specimen Series A 8% Convertible Preferred Stock Certificate   

Exhibit 4.2 on Registration 
Statement on Form S-3 (file 
no. 333-205934) filed July 
29, 2015 

4.3 

 Specimen Series B Convertible Preferred Stock Certificate 

 
Exhibit 4.2 on Registration 
Statement on Form S-3 (file 
no. 333-217322) filed April 
14, 2017 

4.4   Description of the Registrant's Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934   Exhibit 4.4 to Form 10-K 
filed September 24, 2024 

10.1 

 Dynatronics Corporation 2015 Equity Incentive Award Plan and Forms of Statutory and Non-Statutory Stock Option 
Awards 

 
Exhibit 4.1 to Registration 
Statement on Form S-8, 
effective September 3, 2015 

10.2   Dynatronics Corporation 2018 Equity Incentive Plan   

Appendix A to Definitive 
Proxy Statement on 
Schedule 14A filed October 
10, 2018 

10.3 

 Dynatronics Corporation 2020 Equity Incentive Plan 

 
Appendix A to Definitive 
Proxy Statement on 
Schedule 14A filed October 
27, 2020 

10.4   Lease Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2017, between Hausmann Industries, Inc. and Hausmann Enterprises, LLC   Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q 
filed May 11, 2023 

10.5 

 Amendment to Lease Agreement dated as of January 2018 between Hausmann Industries, Inc. and Hausmann 
Enterprises, LLC 

 Exhibit 10.2 to Form 10-Q 
filed May 11, 2023 

10.6   Second Amendment to Lease Agreement dated effective as of April 1, 2023 between Hausmann Industries, Inc. and 
Hausmann Enterprises, LLC 

  
Exhibit 10.1 to Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed 
April 6, 2023 

10.7 

 Third Amendment to Lease Agreement dated as of September 18, 2023 between Hausmann Industries, Inc. and 
Hausmann Enterprises, LLC 

 Exhibit 10.15 on Form 10-K 
filed September 28, 2023 

10.8   Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2023, by and among Dynatronics Corporation, Hausmann 
Enterprises LLC, Bird & Cronin LLC, Dynatronics Distribution Company, LLC and Gibraltar Business Capital, LLC 

  
Exhibit 10.1 to Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed 
August 4, 2023 

10.9 

 Employment Agreement between the Company and Brian D. Baker, effective as of October 1, 2023 

 
Exhibit 10.1 to Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed 
October 2, 2023 

10.10   Form of Indemnification Agreement   Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q 
filed February 7, 2024 
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 Description of Exhibit  Filing Reference 

10.11   Change in Control Agreement between Dynatronics Corporation and Brian D. Baker dated March 20, 2024   
Exhibit 10.1 to Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed 
March 20, 2024 

10.12  Lease Agreement between Bird & Cronin, LLC and Ninety-Nine Technologies, LLC dated effective as of April 1, 2025  
Exhibit 10.1 to Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed 
April 4, 2025 

19.1   Dynatronics Corporation Policy on Insider Trading   Filed herewith  

21  Subsidiaries of the registrant   Exhibit 21 to Form 10-K 
filed September 24, 2024 

23.1   Consent of Tanner LLC   Filed herewith  

31.1  Certification under Rule 13a14(a)/15d14(a) of principal executive officer 

 Filed herewith  

31.2   Certification under Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of principal financial officer   Filed herewith  

32.1  Certification under Section 906 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350) of principal executive officer 

 Filed herewith  

97   Dynatronics Corporation Clawback Policy   Exhibit 97 to Form 10-K 
filed September 24, 2024 

101.INS**  Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Date File because its XBRL 
tags are embedded with the Inline XBRL document 

  

101.SCH**   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document    

101.CAL**   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document   

101.LAB**   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document    

101.PRE**  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document   

101.DEF**   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document    

104  Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)   
 
 
**  Pursuant to Regulation S-T, this interactive data file is deemed not filed or part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act 

of 1933, is deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and otherwise is not subject to liability under these sections.  
  
Item 16. Form 10-K Summary 
  
None.  
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SIGNATURES 
  
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, 
thereunto duly authorized. 
  
  DYNATRONICS CORPORATION   
        
Date: October 14, 2025 By: /s/  Brian D. Baker   
    Brian D. Baker   

    
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal Executive Officer, Principal Financial Officer, and 
Principal Accounting Officer) 

  

  
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and 
on the dates indicated. 
  
Date: October 14, 2025 By: /s/ Brian D. Baker   
    Brian D. Baker   

    
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal Executive Officer, Principal Financial Officer, and 
Principal Accounting Officer) 

  

    
 

  
    /s/ David B. Holtz   
    David B. Holtz   
    Director   
        
    /s/ Andrew Hulett   
    Andrew Hulett    
    Director   
        
    /s/ Erin S. Enright   
    Erin S. Enright   
    Director Chairperson   
        
    /s/ R. Scott Ward, Ph.D.   
    R. Scott Ward, Ph.D.   

    Director 
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EXHIBIT 19.1 

 

 
Effective as of June 26, 2018 

Dynatronics Corporation Policy on Insider Trading 

This Insider Trading Policy describes the standards of Dynatronics Corporation and its 
subsidiaries (the “Company”) on trading, and causing the trading of, the Company’s securities 
or securities of certain other publicly traded companies while in possession of confidential 
information. This Policy is divided into two parts: the first part prohibits trading in certain 
circumstances and applies to all directors, officers and employees of the Company and their 
respective immediate family members, and the second part imposes special additional trading 
restrictions and applies to all (i) directors of the Company, (ii) executive officers of the 
Company, and (iii) employees separately identified by management (collectively, “Covered 
Persons”). 

One of the principal purposes of the federal securities laws is to prohibit so-called 
“insider trading.” Simply stated, insider trading occurs when a person uses material nonpublic 
information obtained through involvement with the Company to make decisions to purchase, 
sell, give away or otherwise trade the Company’s securities or to provide that information to 
others outside the Company. The prohibitions against insider trading apply to trades, tips and 
recommendations by virtually any person, including all persons associated with the Company, 
if the information involved is “material” and “nonpublic.” These terms are defined in this 
Policy under Part I, Section 3 below. The prohibitions would apply to any director, officer or 
employee who buys or sells Company stock on the basis of material nonpublic information 
that he or she obtained about the Company, its customers, suppliers, or other companies with 
which the Company has contractual relationships or may be negotiating transactions. 

PART I 

1. Applicability 

(a) This Policy applies to all trading or other transactions in the Company’s 
securities, including common stock, options and any other securities that the Company may issue, 
such as preferred stock, notes, bonds and convertible securities, as well as to derivative securities 
relating to any of the Company’s securities, whether or not issued by the Company. 

(b) This Policy applies to all employees of the Company, all officers of the 
Company and all members of the Company’s board of directors and their respective immediate 
family members. 

2. General Policy: No Trading or Causing Trading While in Possession of 
Material Nonpublic Information 

 



 

 

  

(a) No director, officer or employee or any of their immediate family members 
may purchase or sell, or offer to purchase or sell, any Company security, whether or not issued by  

the Company, while in possession of material nonpublic information about the Company. (The 
terms “material” and “nonpublic” are defined in Part I, Section 3(a) and (b) below.) 

 
(b) No director, officer or employee or any of their immediate family 

members who knows of any material nonpublic information about the Company may 
communicate that information to (“tip”) any other person, including family members and 
friends, or otherwise disclose such information without the Company’s authorization. 

(c) No director, officer or employee or any of their immediate family 
members may purchase or sell any security of any other company, whether or not issued by 
the Company, while in possession of material nonpublic information about that company that 
was obtained in the course of his or her involvement with the Company. No director, officer 
or employee or any of their immediate family members who knows of any such material 
nonpublic information may communicate that information to, or tip, any other person, 
including family members and friends, or otherwise disclose such information without the 
Company’s authorization. 

(d) For compliance purposes, you should never trade, tip or recommend 
securities (or otherwise cause the purchase or sale of securities) while in possession of 
information that you have reason to believe is material and nonpublic unless you first consult 
with, and obtain the advance approval of, the Compliance Officer (which is defined in Part I, 
Section 3(c) below). 

(e) Covered Persons must “pre-clear” all trading in securities of the 
Company in accordance with the procedures set forth in Part II, Section 3 below. 

3. Definitions 

(a) Material. Insider trading restrictions come into play only if the 
information you possess is “material.” Materiality, however, involves a relatively low 
threshold. Information is generally regarded as “material” if it has market significance, that is, 
if its public dissemination is likely to affect the market price of securities, or if it otherwise is 
information that a reasonable investor would want to know before making an investment 
decision. Information dealing with the following subjects is reasonably likely to be found 
material in particular situations: 

(i) significant changes in the Company’s prospects; 

(ii) significant write-downs in assets or increases in reserves; 

(iii) developments regarding significant litigation or government 
agency investigations; 
 
 

 

operations; 



 

 

  

 
(iv) liquidity problems; 

(v) changes in earnings estimates or unusual gains or 
losses in major 

 
(vi) major changes in management; 

(vii) changes in dividends; 

(viii) extraordinary borrowings  

(ix) award or loss of a significant contract; 

(x) changes in debt ratings; 

(xi) proposals, plans or agreements, even if preliminary in nature, involving mergers, acquisitions, 
divestitures, recapitalizations, strategic alliances, licensing arrangements, or purchases or sales of 
substantial assets; 

(xii) offerings of Company securities; and  

(xiii) pending statistical reports (such as, consumer price index, money supply and retail figures, or interest rate 
developments).  

 
 
 
 



 

 

  

Material information is not limited to historical facts but may also include projections and 
forecasts. With respect to a future event, such as a merger, acquisition or introduction of a new 
product, the point at which negotiations or product development are determined to be material 
is determined by balancing the probability that the event will occur against the magnitude of 
the effect the event would have on a company’s operations or stock price should it occur. Thus, 
information concerning an event that would have a large effect on stock price, such as a merger, 
may be material even if the possibility that the event will occur is relatively small. When in 
doubt about whether particular nonpublic information is material, you should presume it is 
material. If you are unsure whether information is material, you should either consult the 
Compliance Officer before making any decision to disclose such information (other than 
to persons who need to know it) or to trade in or recommend securities to which that 
information relates or assume that the information is material. 

(b) Nonpublic. Insider trading prohibitions come into play only when you 
possess information that is material and “nonpublic.” The fact that information has been 
disclosed to a few members of the public does not make it public for insider trading purposes. 
To be “public” the information must have been disseminated in a manner designed to reach 
investors generally, and the investors must be given the opportunity to absorb the information. 
Even after public disclosure of information about the Company, you must wait until the close 
of business on the second trading day after the information was publicly disclosed before you 
can treat the information as public. 

Nonpublic information may include: 

(i) information available to a select group of analysts or brokers or 
institutional investors; 

(ii) undisclosed facts that are the subject of rumors, even if the 
rumors are widely circulated; and 

(iii) information that has been entrusted to the Company on a 
confidential basis until a public announcement of the information has been made and enough 
time has elapsed for the market to respond to a public announcement of the information 
(normally two trading days). 



 

 

  

As with questions of materiality, if you are not sure whether information is considered 
public, you should either consult with the Compliance Officer or assume that the 
information is nonpublic and treat it as confidential. 

(c) Compliance Officer. The Company has appointed a Compliance 
Officer for this Policy. The duties of the Compliance Officer include, but are not limited to, 
the following: 

(i) assisting with implementation and enforcement of this Policy; 

(ii) circulating this Policy to all employees and ensuring that this 
Policy is amended as necessary to remain up-to-date with insider trading laws; 

(iii) pre-clearing all trading in securities of the Company by Covered 
Persons in accordance with the procedures set forth in Part II, Section 3 below; and 

(iv) providing approval of any Rule 10b5-1 plans under Part II, 
Section 1(c) below and any prohibited transactions under Part II, Section 4 below. 

(v) providing a reporting system with an effective whistleblower 
protection mechanism. 

4. Exceptions 

 
The trading restrictions of this Policy do not apply to the following: 

(a) 401(k) Plan. Investing 401(k) plan contributions in a Company stock 
fund in accordance with the terms of the Company’s 401(k) plan, should such plan exist. 
However, any changes in your investment election regarding the Company’s stock are subject 
to trading restrictions under this Policy. 

(b) Options. Exercising stock options granted under the Company’s 2015 
Equity Incentive Award Plan and 2005 Equity Incentive Award Plan for cash or the delivery 
of previously owned Company stock. However, the sale of any shares issued on the exercise 
of Company-granted stock options and any cashless exercise of Company-granted stock 
options are subject to trading restrictions under this Policy. 

5. Violations of Insider Trading Laws 
 

Penalties for trading on or communicating material nonpublic information can be severe, 
both for individuals involved in such unlawful conduct and their employers and supervisors, and 
may include jail terms, criminal fines, civil penalties and civil enforcement injunctions. Given the 
severity of the potential penalties, compliance with this Policy is absolutely mandatory. 

(a) Legal Penalties. 

(i) A person who violates insider trading laws by engaging in 
transactions in a company’s securities when he or she has material nonpublic information can 



 

 

  

be sentenced to a substantial jail term and required to pay a criminal penalty of several times 
the amount of profits gained or losses avoided. In addition, a person who tips others may also 
be liable for transactions by the tippees to whom he or she has disclosed material nonpublic 
information. Tippers can be subject to the same penalties and sanctions as the tippees, and the 
SEC has imposed large penalties even when the tipper did not profit from the transaction. 

(ii) The SEC can also seek substantial civil penalties from any 
person who, at the time of an insider trading violation, “directly or indirectly controlled the 
person who committed such violation,” which would apply to the Company and/or 
management and supervisory personnel. These control persons may be held liable for up to the 
greater of $1 million or three times the amount of the profits gained or losses avoided. Even 
for violations that result in a small or no profit, the SEC can seek penalties from a company 
and/or its management and supervisory personnel as control persons. 

(b) Company-imposed Penalties. Employees who violate this Policy may 
be subject to disciplinary action by the Company, including dismissal for cause. Any 
exceptions to the Policy, if permitted, may only be granted by the Compliance Officer and 
must be provided before any activity contrary to the above requirements takes place. 

6. Inquiries 
If you have any questions regarding any of the provisions of this Policy, please contact 

the Compliance Officer at compliance@dynatronics.com. 

PART II 

1. Blackout Periods 

All Covered Persons are prohibited from trading in the Company’s securities during 
blackout periods as defined below. 

(a) Quarterly Blackout Periods. Trading in the Company’s securities is 
prohibited during the period beginning at the close of the market on the last trading day two 
weeks before the end of each fiscal quarter and ending at the close of business on the second 
trading day following the date the Company’s financial results are publicly disclosed. During 
these periods, Covered Persons generally possess or are presumed to possess material 
nonpublic information about the Company’s financial results. 

(b) Other Blackout Periods. From time to time, other types of material 
nonpublic information regarding the Company (such as negotiation of mergers, acquisitions or 
dispositions or new product developments) may be pending and not be publicly disclosed. 
While such material nonpublic information is pending, the Company may impose special 
blackout periods during which Covered Persons are prohibited from trading in the Company’s 
securities. If the Company imposes a special blackout period, it will notify the Covered Persons 
affected. 



 

 

  

(c) Exception. These trading restrictions do not apply to transactions under 
a pre-existing written plan, contract, instruction, or arrangement under Rule 10b5-1 under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (an “Approved 10b5-1 Plan”) that: 

(i) has been reviewed and approved at least one month in advance 
of any trades thereunder by the Compliance Officer (or, if revised or amended, such revisions 
or amendments have been reviewed and approved by the Compliance Officer at least one 
month in advance of any subsequent trades); 

(ii) was entered into in good faith by the Covered Person at a time 
when the Covered Person was not in possession of material nonpublic information about the 
Company; and 

(iii) gives a third party the discretionary authority to execute such 
purchases and sales, outside the control of the Covered Person, so long as such third party does 
not possess any material nonpublic information about the Company; or explicitly specifies the 
security or securities to be purchased or sold, the number of shares, the prices and/or dates of 
transactions, or other formula(s) describing such transactions. 

2. Trading Window 
 

Covered Persons are permitted to trade in the Company’s securities when no blackout period 
is in effect. Generally this means that Covered Persons can trade during the period beginning 
on third trading day following the date the Company’s financial results are publicly disclosed 
and ending on the last trading day two weeks before the end of each fiscal quarter. However, 
even during this trading window, a Covered Person who is in possession of any material 
nonpublic information should not trade in the Company’s securities until the information has 
been made publicly available or is no longer material. In addition, the Company may close this 
trading window if a special blackout period under Part II, Section 1(b) above is imposed and 
will re-open the trading window once the special blackout period has ended. 

3. Pre-clearance of Securities Transactions 

(a) Because Covered Persons are likely to obtain material nonpublic 
information on a regular basis, the Company requires all such persons to refrain from trading, 
even during a trading window under Part II, Section 2 above, without first pre-clearing all 
transactions in the Company’s securities. 

(b) Subject to the exemption in subsection (d) below, no Covered Person 
may, directly or indirectly, purchase or sell (or otherwise make any transfer, gift, pledge or 
loan of) any Company security at any time without first obtaining prior approval from the 
Compliance Officer. These procedures also apply to transactions by such person’s spouse, 
other persons living in such person’s household and minor children and to transactions by 
entities over which such person exercises control. 

(c) The Compliance Officer shall record the date each request is received 
and the date and time each request is approved or disapproved. Unless revoked, a grant of 
permission will normally remain valid until the close of trading two business days following 



 

 

  

the day on which it was granted. If the transaction does not occur during the two-day period, 
pre-clearance of the transaction must be re-requested. 

(d) Pre-clearance is not required for purchases and sales of securities under 
an Approved 10b5-1 Plan. With respect to any purchase or sale under an Approved 10b5-1 
Plan, the third party effecting transactions on behalf of the Covered Person should be instructed 
to send duplicate confirmations of all such transactions to the Compliance Officer. 

4. Prohibited Transactions 

(a) Directors and executive officers of the Company are prohibited from 
trading in the Company’s equity securities during a blackout period imposed under an 
“individual account” retirement plan of the Company (should such plan exist), during which 
at least 50% of the plan participants are unable to purchase, sell or otherwise acquire or transfer 
an interest in equity securities of the Company, due to a temporary suspension of trading by 
the Company or the plan fiduciary. 

(b) Covered Persons, including any person’s spouse, other persons living in 
such person’s household and minor children and entities over which such person exercises 
control, are prohibited from engaging in the following transactions in the Company’s securities 
unless advance approval is obtained from the Compliance Officer: 

(i) Short-term trading. Covered Persons who purchase Company 
securities may not sell any Company securities of the same class for at least six months after 
the purchase; 

 
 
securities short; 

(ii) Short sales. Covered Persons may not sell the Company’s 
 

(iii) Options trading. Covered Persons may not buy or sell puts or 
calls or other derivative securities on the Company’s securities; 

(iv) Trading on margin or pledging. Covered Persons may not hold 
Company securities in a margin account or pledge Company securities as collateral for a loan; 
and 

(v) Hedging. Covered Persons may not enter into hedging or 
monetization transactions or similar arrangements with respect to Company securities. 

5. Acknowledgment and Certification 

All Covered Persons are required to sign the attached acknowledgment and certification. 



 

 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT AND CERTIFICATION 

The undersigned does hereby acknowledge receipt of the Company’s Insider Trading 
Policy. The undersigned has read and understands (or has had explained) such Policy and 
agrees to be governed by such Policy at all times in connection with the purchase and sale 
of securities and the confidentiality of nonpublic information. 

 

 
  

(Signature) 

 

  
(Please print name) 

 
Date:   

 
 
  



 

 

EXHIBIT 23.1 
 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 
 

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-258883, 333-233952 and 333-206760) 
and on Form S-3 (Nos. 333-220959, as amended, 333-224930, as amended, 333-205934, as amended, 333-215800, as amended, 333-217322, as 
amended, and 333-256280, as amended) of Dynatronics Corporation of our report dated October 14, 2025, relating to our audit of the June 30, 2025 
consolidated financial statements, which appears in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Dynatronics Corporation. 
 
 
/s/ Tanner LLC 
 
Salt Lake City, Utah 
October 14, 2025



 

 

EXHIBIT 31.1 
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

 
I, Brian D. Baker, certify that: 
 
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Dynatronics Corporation;  
  
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make 

the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered 
by this report;  

  
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects 

the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  
  
4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined 

in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) 
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

  

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

   

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 

our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

   

 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

   

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most 

recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial 
reporting. 

   
5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, 

to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):  
  

 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

   

 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal 

control over financial reporting. 
  

Date: October 14, 2025  By:  /s/ Brian D. Baker  
  Brian D. Baker  
  President, Chief Executive Officer   

  (Principal Executive Officer)  
  

 



 

 

EXHIBIT 31.2 
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

 
I, Brian D. Baker, certify that: 
 
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Dynatronics Corporation;  
  
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make 

the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered 
by this report;  

  
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects 

the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  
  
4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined 

in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) 
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

  

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

   

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 

our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

   

 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

   

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most 

recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial 
reporting. 

   
5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, 

to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):  
  

 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

   

 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal 

control over financial reporting. 
  

Date: October 14, 2025  By:  /s/ Brian D. Baker  
  Brian D. Baker  
  Chief Financial Officer   

  
(Principal Financial Officer, and Principal Accounting 
Officer)  
  

 



 

 

 
 

EXHIBIT 32.1 
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

 
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, I, Brian D. Baker, the Chief 

Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer hereby certify, that, to my knowledge: 
 
(1) The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended June 30, 2025 (the "Report") of the Company fully complies with the 

requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 
 
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of 

the Company. 
 

Date: October 14, 2025 By:  /s/ Brian D. Baker  
  Brian D. Baker  

  
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal Executive Officer, Principal Financial Officer, and 
Principal Accounting Officer)  

 

 
[A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Dynatronics Corporation and will be retained by 
Dynatronics Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.] 
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